
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: democratic.services@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 31 December 2019

Website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 8 JANUARY 2020 AT 7.00 PM

THE RIDGEWAY, THE BEACON, PORTWAY, WANTAGE, OX12 9BY

Members of the Committee:
Bob Johnston (Chair)
Val Shaw (Vice-Chair)
Jerry Avery
Ron Batstone

Eric Batts
Diana Lugova
Robert Maddison

Janet Shelley
Max Thompson

Substitutes Councillors
Paul Barrow, Dr
Nathan Boyd
Andy Cooke
Eric de la Harpe

Amos Duveen
Hayleigh Gascoigne
David Grant
Simon Howell

Mike Pighills
Elaine Ware

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on this 
agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.



2

1. Chairman's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chairman, and general housekeeping 
matters.

2. Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.  

3. Minutes  (Pages 4 - 10)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the 
meeting held on 4 December 2019.  

4. Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

5. Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent.  

6. Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  

Planning applications

All the background papers, with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (e.g. within Enforcement Files) used in the following reports 
within this agenda are held (normally electronically) in the application file (working 
file) and referenced by its application number.  These are available to view at the 
Council Offices (135 Milton Park, Milton) during normal office hours.

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.



3

</AI7>

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page.

7. Land at Grove 
Road, Grove  

Erection of a Class A1 retail food 
store with associated car parking, 
access, landscaping and associated 
engineering works.  Additional 
ecological information (reptile survey 
report) received 28 September 2018. 
Additional information and amended 
plans received 5 November 2018, 7 
March 2019 and 31 July 2019.

P18/V2300/FUL 11 - 56

8. 1 Maple Close 
Botley Oxford, 
OX2 9DZ  

Retrospective change of use to C3 
dwelling as 7 bed HMO.

P19/V2651/FUL 57 - 67

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic 



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee Minutes

Wednesday, 4 December 2019 Pl.1

Minutes
of a meeting of the
Planning Committee
held on Wednesday, 4 December 2019 at 
7.00 pm
in The Ridgeway, The Beacon, Portway, 
Wantage, OX12 9BY

Open to the public, including the press

Present: 

Members: Councillors Bob Johnston (Chair), Jerry Avery, Ron Batstone, Eric Batts, 
Diana Lugova, Robert Maddison and Janet Shelley

Officers: Paul Bateman, Martin Deans, Sarah Green, Emily Hamerton, Andy Heron, 
Susannah Mangion and Luke Veillet

Also present: Neil Fawcett and Judy Roberts

Number of members of the public: 20

Pl.61 Chairman's announcements 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
The chairman outlined the emergency evacuation arrangements and the procedure for the 
meeting.

Pl.62 Apologies for absence 

Councillor Val Shaw and Councillor Max Thompson sent their apologies.

Pl.63 Minutes 

RESOLVED: to adopt the minutes of the committee meeting held on 13 November 2019 
as a correct record and agree that the chair signs them as such.

Pl.64 Declarations of interest 

In respect of application P18/V1704/FUL, J Curtis & Sons, Thrupp Lane, Radley, the 
Chair, Councillor Bob Johnston, declared that he was a member of Radley Parish Council 
but was never present when that council discussed planning matters.

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Wednesday, 4 December 2019 Pl.2

Councillor Eric Betts declared in respect of application P19/V1512/FUL, 5 Toynbee Close, 
North Hinksey, that he knew one of the objectors and would not be participating in the 
discussion or voting on this application.

Pl.65 Urgent business 

There was no urgent business.

Pl.66 Public participation 

A list of registered speakers was tabled at the meeting.

Pl.67 P18/V1704/FUL - J Curtis and Sons Ltd Thrupp Lane, Radley,  
Abingdon, OX14 3NG 

Councillor Diana Lugova, a local ward councillor stood down from the committee meeting 
for the consideration of this item.

The chair of the committee, Councillor Bob Johnston, a local ward councillor stood down 
from the from the committee meeting for consideration of this item.

A motion moved and seconded to elect Councillor Janet Shelley to chair the meeting for 
this item was declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: that Councillor Janet Shelley chair the meeting for Item 7, application 
P18/V1704/FUL.

The committee considered application P18/V1704/FUL for variation of condition 1 - to 
allow permitted use of buildings A, C, D, F and G for a further period of 5 years on 
application ref P03/V1226/FUL. Variation of condition 1 of Approval P87/V1143/FUL 
(RAD/57/15) to allow the permitted uses of buildings A, C, D, F & G for a further 8 year 
period, at J Curtis and Sons Ltd Thrupp Lane Radley Abingdon, OX14 3NG.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

Richard Dudding, a representative of Radley Parish Council, spoke objecting to the 
application.

Richard Thomas, a representative of the Friends of Radley Lakes, spoke objecting to the 
application.

Bob Johnston, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

The committee noted that mineral extraction at the site had ceased in 1995 and that no 
further such operation had taken place since that time. The buildings were temporary in 
nature and designed to support the extraction operation and had not been used for this 
purpose for approximately 40 years. The committee concluded that this continued to be 
inappropriate development in the green belt. A motion moved and seconded, to refuse 
planning permission for the application was declared carried on being put to the vote.

Page 5



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Wednesday, 4 December 2019 Pl.3

RESOLVED: that planning permission for application P18/V1704/FUL is refused for the 
following reason;

1. The buildings continued to be inappropriate development in the green belt.

Pl.68 P19/V0626/FUL - Oakley Equestrian Centre, Faringdon Road A417, 
Field opposite Goosey Lane, Faringdon, SN7 8PE 

Councillor Bob Johnston in the chair.

The committee considered application P19/V0626/FUL for the change of use of the site to 
a commercial business for the pre-training of race horses. Erection of 16 stables, wc, hay 
barn and tack room together with a sand gallop, horse walker and a temporary mobile 
home (as amended by additional information received from agent on 15 and 22 April 
2019), (as amended by additional information received 17 June 2019) (as amended by 
additional Information received 15 August 2019), at Oakley Equestrian Centre, Faringdon 
Road A417, field opposite Goosey Lane Faringdon, SN7 8PE

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

The planning officer reported that County Councillor Yvonne Constance would not be 
objecting to the proposal. The committee had received a copy of her email, which provided 
full details.

Michael Crofton Briggs, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

The committee considered that details of any hard surfacing should be agreed in writing 
prior to installation and that a condition to this effect should be included in any permission.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission for the application was 
declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P19/V0626/FUL, subject to an 
additional condition relating to hardstanding and subject to the following conditions and the 
completed Section 106 agreement;

Standard 
1. Commencement 3 years - Full Planning Permission
2. Approved plans 

Pre- Commencement
3. Existing close board fencing to be removed
4. Access and vision splays to be provided

Pre- Occupation
5. Surface water drainage in accordance with details
6. Foul water drainage in accordance with details

Compliance
7. Materials in accordance with details
8. Landscaping in accordance with details

Page 6



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Wednesday, 4 December 2019 Pl.4

9. External lighting in accord with details to be agreed
10. Recommendations of preliminary Ecological Appraisal
11. Parking and turning areas provided
12. Mobile home occupation limited to person wholly engaged in 

equestrian business or any residential dependants of such person
13. Within 3 years of this permission or in the case the business 

ceases use, whichever occurs first, the mobile home shall be removed 
from the site

Pl.69 P19/V0424/FUL - Land to the rear of 89A-93 Eynsham Road, Botley, 
Oxford, OX2 9DG 

The committee considered application P19/V0424/FUL for the construction of 8 flats (5 x 1 
bedroom and 3 x 2 bedroom) on three floors (amended plans received 17 July 2019 to 
show amended site plan, car parking and bin storage, amended materials, and additional 
arboricultural information) on land to the rear of 89A-93 Eynsham Road, Botley, Oxford, 
OX2 9DG.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

Kylie Monsma, the agent, on behalf of Oxford Community Land Trust, spoke in support of 
the application.

Councillor Judy Roberts, a local ward councillor, spoke in support of the application.

The committee considered that a slab level condition should form part of any permission.

A motion moved and seconded, to delegate the grant of planning permission to the head 
of planning was declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED to delegate the grant of planning permission for application P19/V0424/FUL 
to the head of planning subject to:

1. A section 106 legal agreement being entered into to secure affordable
housing for local people in housing need.

2. Conditions summarised as follows:

Standard
1. Time limit
2. Approved plans

Prior to commencement
3. Surface water drainage
4. Arboricultural method statement
5. Landscaping scheme

Prior to occupation
6. Visibility splays (access)
7. Parking and turning

Page 7



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Wednesday, 4 December 2019 Pl.5

Compliance
8. Materials in accordance with application

9. Additional condition relating to slab levels.

Pl.70 P19/V1512/FUL - 5 Toynbee Close, North Hinksey, Oxford, OX2 
9HW 

Councillor Eric Batts declared an interest in respect of this application, as he knew one of 
the objectors, and did not participate in the discussion or voting on this application.

The committee considered application P19/V1512/FUL for the erection of a new building 
containing 2no. x 2 bedroom flats to the rear of 5 Toynbee Close, demolition of car port 
and outbuilding to facilitate access from Toynbee Close, with provision of parking with bin 
and cycle stores. Demolition of existing dwelling house and erection of a 2 storey building 
containing 1no. x 3 bedroom flat and 2no. x 1 bedroom flats, with provision of parking with 
bin and cycles stores (amended and amplified by plans received 30th August 2019 and 7th 
October 2019) at 5 Toynbee Close, North Hinksey, Oxford, OX2 9HW.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

Councillor Adam Rankin, a representative of North Hinksey Parish Council, spoke 
objecting to the application.

Angus Ashton, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.

Nicola Johnson, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.

Andre Botha, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

Councillor Emily Smith, a local ward councillor, was unable to attend the committee but 
provided a statement, objecting to the application. This was read out to the meeting and 
had been emailed to the committee prior to the meeting.

The committee was concerned at the mass and bulk of the proposal within the street 
scene, the impact upon the roof scape and the loss of landscape amenity. It noted that the 
North Hinksey Neighbourhood Development Plan’s examination had now been concluded 
and although it was considered limited at this time, a number of its policies were relevant, 
namely;
HS1 - Characteristics of new housing
HS2 – Low rise housing design
HS3 – Housing density
HS4 - Flexibility, Future-Proofing, and Sustainable Design
HS5 – Balance of housing types
TR1 – Cyclists, Pedestrians & Public Transport
TR2 – Parking, Access and Electric Vehicle Charging

A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission for the application was 
declared carried on being put to the vote.

Page 8



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Wednesday, 4 December 2019 Pl.6

RESOLVED: that planning permission for application P19/V1512/FUL is refused for the 
following reasons;

1. That, the development by reason of its bulk, scale, massing, and 
vegetation removal will appear obtrusive and overdeveloped in the street 
scene and therefore harmful to the character and appearance of the 
area.

2. That, the contemporary flat roof design of the buildings will result in an 
appearance that is not in keeping to the surrounding built form. This 
results in a poor quality design and roof-scape, which fails to take into 
account surrounding context.

3. That, the privacy of neighbours will also be adversely impacted through 
overlooking, particularly from the rear buildings balcony and front 
buildings side elevation windows.

Pl.71 P19/V1445/FUL - Army Rowing Club, Wilsham Road,  Abingdon, 
OX14 5LD 

Councillor Jerry Avery declared an interest in respect of this application, as he was a 
veterans’ champion and former army officer, and did not participate in the discussion or 
voting on this application.

The committee considered application P19/V1445/FUL to demolish existing detached club 
room and store building. Form new detached club room and rowing boat store (amended 
drawings to show revised boat store, club room and car parking/cycle provision received 1 
October 2019). (Revised flood risk assessment received 17 October 2019) at the Army 
Rowing Club, Wilsham Road, Abingdon, OX14 5LD.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

Alex Greenaway, a representative of Abingdon-on-Thames Town Council, spoke objecting 
to the application.

Brigadier Adam McRae, spoke on behalf of the applicant, in support of the application.

Councillor Neil Fawcett, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

Councillor Samantha Bowring, a local ward councillor, was unable to attend the committee 
but provided a statement, objecting to the application. This was read out to the meeting.
 
The committee was not persuaded that the development would attract increased non - 
Army rowing activity on the site or generate additional noise. A planning condition could 
not deal with noise generation; if there were problems, these would be handled by 
environmental health officers. It was noted that the application did not entail any change of 
use or activity and that the boat house was a sporting -related area and not a space 
intended for social use.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission for the application was 
declared carried on being put to the vote.

Page 9



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Wednesday, 4 December 2019 Pl.7

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P19/V1445/FUL subject to the 
following conditions;

Standard
1. Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2. Approved plans

Prior to commencement
3. Surface Water Drainage
4. Foul Drainage
5. Landscaping details
6. Flooding - details of the proposed ‘Hit and Miss Wall’
7. Submission of details – construction management plan

Prior to use or occupation
8.  Flooding – measures in accordance with Flood Risk Assessment
9.  HY7 - Car Parking
10. HY20 - Bicycle Parking
11. Materials in Accordance with Application

Informatives
12. Watercourses

The meeting closed at 9.15 pm

Page 10



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

APPLICATION NO. P18/V2300/FUL
SITE Land at Grove Road Grove
PARISH GROVE
PROPOSAL Erection of a Class A1 retail food store 

with associated car parking, access, 
landscaping and associated engineering 
works.  Additional ecological information 
(reptile survey report) received 28 
September 2018. Additional information 
and amended plans received 5 
November 2018, 7 March 2019 and 31 
July 2019.

WARD MEMBERS Amos Duveen
Jenny Hannaby
Andrew Crawford
Patrick O'Leary

APPLICANT GSC Estates (Wantage) Limited
OFFICER Penny Silverwood

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the application is refused for the following 
reasons:

1. Based on the information submitted with the application the Local 
Planning Authority consider that the proposal would harm the 
vitality and viability of the Grovelands centre, Grove, an identified 
local shopping centre in the local plan. The application also fails to 
guard against the potential and unnecessary loss of the Post Office, 
a community facility, as a result of the proposed development. As 
such the application is contrary to Core Policy 32 of the adopted 
Local Plan 2031 Part 1 and to paragraphs 89, 90 and 92 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

2. The application fails to respond positively to the site and its 
surroundings and fails to protect the local landscape setting from 
harmful development. The proposed scheme is not well integrated 
into the local character of the area and is at odds with the rural 
interface and the important role the site plays in terms of visual and 
physical separation between Wantage and Grove. As such the 
application is contrary to Core Policies 37 and 44 of the Local Plan 
2031 Part 1, to Development Policy 29 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 2 
and to paragraphs 127, 130 and 170 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/V2300/FUL


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

3. In the absence of a completed S106 legal agreement, the proposal 
fails to secure infrastructure necessary to meet the needs of the 
district (namely the provision of public art, biodiversity offsetting 
and associated monitoring fee) and the county (namely 
enhancements to bus services, public transport infrastructure and 
travel plan monitoring). As such the development is contrary to 
Core Policy 7 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 and to the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 The application is presented to Planning Committee at the request of the 

Development Manager.
  

1.2 The application relates to undeveloped pasture land east of Grove Road 
(A338) to the north of the roundabout with Mably Way (A417). The land is 
currently accessed via a field gate directly onto the A338 on the western 
boundary of the site. The residential dwelling Stone Haven lies to the north 
east, as does Elms Farm Business Park. The access road to the business 
park is located along the northern site boundary, beyond which is another 
parcel of pasture land. A section of the Wantage Eastern Link Road is 
currently being constructed in a cutting to the south of the application site. A 
site location plan is below:

1.3 The Proposal

Page 12



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a Class A1 
retail food store with associated car parking, access, landscaping and 
associated engineering works. Vehicular access is to be taken from Grove 
Road. The proposed building is to be located at the south of the site facing 
north with retaining walls along the southern and eastern boundaries and car 
parking to the north.

1.4 Officers are aware that the end user is intended to be the discount retailer Lidl. 
The authority cannot however control the end user of the proposed 
development and therefore, the application must be considered based on the 
use classes applied for with no weight to be given to the intended end users. 

1.5 The proposal has been amended in light of technical officer comments on 
highways, landscape and design. The latest layout plans are attached as 
Appendix 1.

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 A summary of the responses received to the current proposal is below. A full 

copy of all the comments made can be seen online at 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk.

Grove Parish 
Council

First response (10/10/2018) 
Objection:

 No objection to the principle of the development
 A more adequate road junction option is required 

such as:
o Installing a roundabout on the A338 at the 

junction to the development.
o Creating a spur from the Wantage Eastern 

Link Road or Mably Way roundabout.
o Left in, left out restrictions by creating a 

roundabout at Grove Bridge.
 Concerns over crossing an existing dual cycleway/ 

footpath.

Second response (21/03/2019) 
Objection:

 The amendment makes no improvement to traffic 
joining the A338.

 The traffic survey should have been carried out on a 
weekday not a Sunday afternoon.

 The development will add a further junction on to the 
A338 in the vicinity of many other junctions.

 The exit onto the A338 should be left turn only
 Visibility exiting the site should not be inhibited by 

proposed planting.
 Deliveries should not be made during the hours of 8-

9.30 am and 2.45-4pm in line with the proposed new 
care home.

Page 13

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

 Improvements should be made to the existing 
junction of the Elms Farm Business Park allowing 
priority to Pedestrians and Cyclists.

Wantage Town 
Council

First response (09/10/2018) 
No objection: 

 Request projected traffic modelling which takes 
account of all new developments and planned 
developments in the area.

Second response (02/04/2019) 
No further comments received.

Third response (21/08/2019)
No objection:

 Supports the latest comments from Grove Parish 
Council.

 Request a re-assessment from the economic 
development officer based on the use as a Class A1 
food store not solely for the use by a limited 
assortment discounter (LAD).

 Buses use Grove Road as a staging area adjacent 
to the proposed supermarket which will cause a 
traffic hazard and delay to road users.

Oxfordshire 
County Council

Transport 
First response (11/10/2018)
Objection: 

 The application does not include satisfactory 
proposals for site access from the A338.

 The application does not include satisfactory 
proposals for the provision of pedestrian/ cyclist 
facilities; priority should be given to pedestrians and 
cyclists.

 There would be a very substantial intensification of 
use of the access.

 Advice at pre-app stage advised a unified junction 
design to accommodate Wolage Drive.

 The proposed access junction does not meet 
guidance standards (in Design Manual for Roads 
and Bridges) and is not acceptable. 

 There should be a convenient pedestrian/ cycle link 
to the store on the western boundary of the site 
close to the building to facilitate access from Crab 
Hill residents.

 The northbound bus stop may need to be relocated 
to accommodate the junction proposal. It should also 
be enhanced with the provision of a cantilever type 
shelter and real-time information through a financial 
contribution.

Page 14



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

 A financial contribution towards bus service 
enhancement is required.

 The proposed quantum of parking spaces is 
considered acceptable.

 Access to the service bay by delivery vehicles via 
reversing 65 metres within the car parking area is 
not acceptable.

Second response (5/4/2019)
 No objection subject to conditions:

 The proposal achieves a satisfactory separation of 
the access point from the access to Elms Farm 
Business Park.

 However, if this access point is implemented it may 
compromise or limit the opportunities for achieving a 
satisfactory access for the proposed Business Park 
extension development which is within the same 
ownership.

 The proposals for safely accommodating a 
signalised toucan crossing and a southbound bus 
stop have not been properly or clearly shown.

 The existing shared pedestrian/cyclist pathway along 
the east side of the A338 must be retained. The 
widening of the carriageway to construct the 
proposed right turn land access arrangement would 
result in the highway verge being affected and the 
pathway needing to be realigned.

 The cycle/pedestrian pathway is indicated on 
drawings to continue around the access bell mouth. 
At the points where cyclists would cross the access, 
it would be necessary for them to stop and look 
behind to check that traffic conditions were safe to 
make the crossing. The proposals, therefore, do not 
represent a design intended to give priority of 
movement to cyclists, as previously described.

 The highway authority would wish to see the 
alignment of a length of the pathway on either side 
of the access to be set back from the carriageway 
such that the pathway would approach the access 
on an alignment parallel to the carriageway. This 
would enable cyclists to much more easily observe 
the traffic conditions around them.

 The 120 car parking spaces provided, whilst a 
reduction of 8 from the original proposal, is 
considered to be a suitable level of provision.

 The vehicle tracking for HGVs indicate that during a 
right turn into the site access the rear end of the 
vehicle would swing into the northbound through-
lane on the A338. This would be potentially 
hazardous and could lead to serious side swipe 

Page 15



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

collisions. The access layout would need to be 
modified to avoid this. 

 Further detail of the Toucan crossing required.
 It is considered that the Road Safety Audit 

procedure has been conducted appropriately 
however the highways authority does require 
changes to the layout proposals to take account of 
the above comments.

 Conditions pertaining to amended site access details 
should be secured.

 S106 contributions required for direct mitigation of 
the site.

Third response (16/5/2019)
Objection:

 Overall the site access would be acceptable in 
principle but there are key aspects of the design that 
would not be acceptable and require changing.

 Need to satisfactorily show the safe accommodation 
of the existing signalised toucan crossing and bus 
stop.

 Need to satisfactorily show that the existing shared 
pedestrian cycleway can be retained and realigned.

 The design does not represent a design intended to 
give priority of movement to cyclists. A length of the 
cycleway should be set back from the carriageway 
so that it would approach the access parallel to the 
carriageway to enable cyclists to more easily 
observe traffic.

 The access layout needs to be modified to avoid 
HGV lorries swinging into the northbound through 
lane when turning right into the site.

 The pedestrian refuge at the crossing need to be 
revised.

Fourth response (28/8/2019)
No objection, subject to conditions:

 The shared use pedestrian cycle path has been 
realigned to provide cyclists with a sense of 
awareness at the junction and a priority of 
movement at the access with give way points 
indicated on the access road.

 The signalised crossing is indicated as a single 
movement across Grove Road without a central 
island which is acceptable.

 Vehicle encroachment into the opposing right turn 
traffic lane has been avoided by modifying the exit 
kerb alignment.

Page 16



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

 Contributions are sought relating to public transport, 
public transport infrastructure and travel plan 
monitoring.

Archaeology 

First response (11/10/2018)
No objection, subject to conditions:

 The site is within an area of archaeological potential 
and recent investigations have identified the 
presence of heritage assets within proximity of the 
site.

 From the desk-based study there is no indication of 
the presence of archaeological features of such 
significance to preclude the principle of 
development. 

 Recommend that a condition requiring a programme 
of archaeological investigation in advance of 
development is secured.

Lead Local Flood Authority

28/8/2019: No comments to make, the LPA should consult 
their drainage team.

Economic 
Development 

First response (08/10/2018)
Support: 

 There will be a growing demand for additional 
shopping provision due to Crab Hill development 
within walking distance to this site.

 Grove’s precinct sites are anchored by ‘top up’ style 
supermarkets which would not be in competition with 
this application, they are vibrant shopping areas and 
have no vacant retail space.

 Wantage town centre shops will not suffer 
significantly from the product range offered by a 
limited assortment discounter (LAD) such as Lidl.

 Support for the application due to the potential 
demand for facilities to serve new development, job 
creation benefits and a low threat to the current 
shopping areas of Wantage and Grove.

Conservation 
Officer 

First response (04/10/2018) 
No objection

Second response (14/03/2019)
No objection

Countryside 
Officer 

First response (12/10/2018)
Objection: 

Page 17



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

 Given the footprint of the development and the 
proposed planting scheme being mainly ornamental 
planting and amenity grassland it is unlikely that the 
scheme can achieve a no-net loss of biodiversity.

 Applicant should submit a biodiversity accounting 
assessment using a biodiversity impact calculator to 
demonstrate compliance with CP46 and para. 170 of 
the NPPF. Additional realistic measures should be 
included on-site, and an offsetting payment secured 
for any residual shortfalls.

Second response (25/03/2018) 
No objection, subject to conditions:

 The biodiversity impact assessment submitted 
concludes that the proposal, taking account of 
proposed soft landscaping, will result in a net loss of 
3.45 biodiversity units.

 An offsetting payment will be required to address 
this net loss of biodiversity resource.

Drainage 
Engineer 

First response (23/10/2018)
Objection:

 Thames Water should comment on the proposed 
discharge rate and downstream capacity of their 
surface water sewer in which this development is 
proposed to discharge to.

 Confirmation of a suitable strategy for managing 
groundwater (to be discharged into a public sewer) 
should be provided in liaison with Thames Water.

Second response (17/01/2019)
No objection, subject to conditions:

 Thames Water have not objected on the basis of 
groundwater being potentially discharged to their 
infrastructure.

Contaminated 
Land 

No objection

Environmental 
Protection 
Team 

First response (11/10/2018) 
No objection:

 Noise from external plant and deliveries has been 
suitably assessed and is forecast to have a low 
impact on nearby receptors and will be below 
existing background noise levels.

 No objection subject to implementation of measures 
in accordance with the acoustics assessment. 

Second response (25/03/2019)
No further comments.

Page 18



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

SGN Plant 
Protection 
Team

 Draw attention to the location of gas network pipes 
within the vicinity of the application site.

Forestry Team  First response (05/10/2018) 
No objection

 The provision of sufficient space for the 
establishment of new trees will be necessary to 
assimilate the development into the landscape.

Second response (25/03/2019) 
The amendment does not introduce any additional 
arboricultural implications.

Urban Design 
Officer 

First response (26/10/2018)
Objection

 The scheme proposes a large cut into the natural 
and substantial hillside form which is valuable in the 
green corridor that historically has separated the two 
settlements. 

 The two settlements still have a degree of separation 
and will be discernible from one another, the key 
landscape aspect that provides this discernible 
differentiator is the Elms Farm Landscape character 
area of which the proposed scheme forms part of.

 Due to this strategic location, the development must 
respond positively to the development context, its 
landscape character and any proposed architectural 
form must mitigate its impact and work to enhance 
any loss of character.

 Due to the gradient of the site, the proposed 
development requires a significant cut into the 
landscape which would alter the character of the 
landscape degrading the existing visual amenity 
provided by the natural agricultural landscape.

 The building’s design does not seek to respond to 
the mitigation of the site’s constraints with no 
architectural merit to integrate into the site’s setting.

 The scheme and its built form do not respond to the 
constraints and character.

 The building’s envelope should respond positively 
and integrate into the landscape character of the 
scheme.

 There is an opportunity for the building to respond to 
its proposed landscape, but this would have to be 
done in such a way as to offset the loss of valued 
landscape and character.

Second response (24/4/2019):

Page 19



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

Objection
 To deliver development on the site would require a 

significant cut and fill which would result in a loss of 
an identified landscape character.

 The alteration of the landscape would degrade the 
existing visual amenity provided by the natural 
agricultural landscape.

 The landscape form also acts as a feature 
separating the settlements of Wantage and Grove. 

 To establish a credible development a design 
approach would be needed that can comparably 
offset the loss of any landscape character/ visual 
amenity.

 The proposed envelope has been ‘skinned’ 
sympathetically with materials and detailing that 
brings a degree of articulation.

 It works with its surroundings more than previously 
demonstrated.

 There is scope to have a green roof which could 
mirror the landscape topography.

 The glazing return on the southern and western 
elevations helps establish its presence and define 
the entrance to the building. The timber cladding 
helps to soften the façade of the building from the 
car park.

 The parking is standardised, lacking landscape 
quality.

 The loss of the landscape form would give way to 
adjoining settlement patterns through the erosion of 
a landform that helps to identify and differentiate the 
space between Wantage and Grove.

 It has not been demonstrated that a like for like 
transition of value has been achieved.

Landscape 
Architect 

First response (16/10/2019)
Objection:

 Does not propose a scheme that is visually 
attractive, sympathetic to local character or reflects 
the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside 
as per the NPPF (paras. 124, 127, 130 and 170) or 
in terms of protecting landscape character and 
integrating the scheme into the local landscape 
character as per CP44.

 The Landscape Appraisal does not fully explore the 
role the hillside plays in the local landscape in terms 
of landscape character and the visual impacts of the 
highly engineered scheme.

 VOWHDC Landscape Assessment (Dec 2008) 
states that the site is not robust enough for 

Page 20



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

development to take place, assessed as High 
Sensitivity, Low Capacity and Low Robustness. The 
hill forms a dominant feature.

 The site forms a locally very important landscape 
and makes a big contribution to the character of 
Wantage and Grove.

 The food store is located within the broad landscape 
buffer which provides the visual and physical 
separation between Grove and Wantage.

 The Landscape Appraisal submitted does not refer 
to the District’s 2017 Landscape Character 
Assessment.

 With exception of the new link road which will be 
located in a cutting all development associated with 
Crab Hill has been kept off of the open hillsides 
which form the setting to the east of Grove and the 
southern edge of Wantage to prevent coalescence 
and retain separate settlement identities.

 The development on this hill side would completely 
change the western side of the A338 both in 
landscape character and visibility terms and 
therefore would not be acceptable under CP44 in 
terms of protecting landscape character and 
integrating the scheme into the local landscape 
character.

 The site is not in keeping with its location.
 Additional comments on layout:

o Additional information required to clarify the 
layout of the site – unclear how the junction 
works will impact the existing cycle route 
alignment and level changes.

o Unclear how the site will be accessed from 
the western boundary due to level changes.

o No space between the western edge and the 
A338 to implement planting which will result in 
a very hard edge to the development.

o No space within the proposals to plant 
vegetation to attempt to mitigate or integrate 
the proposals.

o Little information provided on proposed 
retaining engineering methods.

 The proposed development would harm the 
character of the locality and does not take in to 
account the key role this site performs in the 
character of the eastern side of Grove at its rural 
interface with the wider countryside to the east and 
Wantage to the south.

Second response (30/4/2019)
Objection:

Page 21



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

 Previous comments still relevant.
 Relevant additional viewpoints from the north have 

not been provided.
 The issues previously raised are relevant to the 

Settlement Character and Gap policy in not 
compromising the physical and visual separation 
between two separate settlements.

 Conflict between proposed lighting columns and 
trees.

 Limited space for planting on the western edge.
 Retaining structures are at odd with the smaller 

scale open field network in the area.
 The proposed development is not in keeping with its 

location.

Third response (21/11/2019)
Objection:

 Previous comments still relevant.

Thames Water First response (12/10/2018)
Objection.

 Inability of the existing surface water infrastructure to 
accommodate the needs of the development.

 Condition restricting occupation until confirmation 
that surface water network upgrades have been 
completed or a phasing plan has been agreed with 
Thames Water.

 Inability of the existing foul water network 
infrastructure to accommodate the needs of the 
development.

 Condition restricting occupation until confirmation 
that all wastewater network upgrades required to 
accommodate the additional flows have been 
completed or a phasing plan has been agreed with 
Thames Water.

 Positive connection to a public surface water sewer 
will only be consented when it can be demonstrated 
that the hierarchy of disposal methods have been 
examined and proven to be impracticable. The 
hierarchy being first soakaways, second 
watercourses and third sewers. It has not currently 
been demonstrated that connection to the local 
brook is unfeasible.

 No objection regarding water network and water 
treatment infrastructure capacity.

Second response (19/10/2018)
No objection

Page 22



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

 As above regarding surface water drainage, water 
network and water treatment infrastructure capacity.

 The application sets out that foul water will not be 
discharged to the public network and as a result 
Thames Water has no objection. Should the 
applicant subsequently seek a connection to 
discharge foul waters to the public network in the 
future then Thames Water would consider this to be 
a material change to the application details which 
would require an amendment to the application and 
Thames water would need to review their position.

Third response (23/10/2018)
No objection

 As above regarding surface water drainage, water 
network and water treatment infrastructure capacity.

 No objection regarding foul water sewage network 
infrastructure capacity.

Wantage and 
Grove 
Campaign 
Group

First response (10/10/2018) 
Objection: 

 Applaud the increase in employment opportunities
 Object to the closure of the gap between Wantage 

and Grove.
 Fills the gap between Mably Way roundabout and 

the entrance to Elm Farm Business Park and will 
further close the gap between the settlements.

 This green field site which provides a strong visual 
break between the two communities should not be 
used if brown field sites are available.

 It is separate from other retail premises so will 
further fragment retail offers in Wantage and Grove.

 The site is more than half a mile from either 
Wantage or Grove and will impact on the viability of 
both existing centres.

 No evidence has been provided to demonstrate that 
it will not undermine the vitality and viability of retail 
provision.

 The primary cycle route from Grove to Wantage will 
be severely affected by the traffic entering and 
leaving the store.

 Allowing access to a store in this location close to 
the Wolage Drive entrance bus stops, a pedestrian 
crossing and a roundabout will be dangerous to 
vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians.

 No parking on site for employees and delivery 
vehicles.

Second response (21/03/2019) 

Page 23



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

Objection:
 All previous objections still apply.
 Concerns with the addition of another junction onto 

the A338.
 There is no detail regarding drainage which could 

result in traffic accidents.
 Concerns re. the audit provided which states that 

there are no measurements for the junction therefore 
the size of the ghost junction cannot be determined.

 Concerns as to the risk of traffic blocking the 
pedestrian crossing.

 No details as to the proposed lighting for the junction
 Concerns as to the safe movement of lorries within 

the site, lorries would need to reverse within the car 
parking area for approximately 65 metres to get into 
the service bay.

 There is no space for refuse and delivery lorries to 
be on site at the same time.

 Concerns as to whether fire vehicles can access the 
site.

 Object on the grounds of highway issues, lack of 
employee parking, distance from local retail centres 
and being contrary to CP4, CP32 of the Local Plan 
2031 Part 1 and Policy 29 in the Local Plan 2031 
Part 2.

On behalf of 
Midcounties 
Co-op Ltd, 
Grove

First and second responses (5/10/2019 and 27/11/2019) 
Objection:

 The proposal should be judged as a Class A1 food 
store and not based on the proposed operator.

 The applicant has not demonstrated compliance with 
the sequential test:

o failed to show adequate flexibility in 
considering alternative sites and in 
considering the broad type of development 
proposed.

o information supplied on alternative sites is 
inadequate and little evidence provided.

 Inadequate impact assessment:
o The 2012 survey on shopping behaviour is 

out of date and subjective judgement has 
been applied.

o The impact upon Wantage town centre will be 
much larger than estimated.

o Impact on local centres has been presented 
as a combined trade diversion for all centres 
which is insufficient.

o Failed to provide a proper account of the 
cumulative impact on the centres once 

Page 24



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

planned local centres at Crab Hill and Grove 
Airfield are built out. Impact will be 11% not 
1% indicated.

o Unreasonable large trade draw assumed from 
Aldi in Faringdon.

o Failed to consider the likely impact on 
investment decisions in Grove Airfield and 
Crab Hill developments. The proposal 
represents a significant risk.

 Major change to the character of the area. It would 
have a severe adverse impact in a sensitive 
landscape area.

 Poorly located for access other than by car.
 Road junction arrangement is inadequate.

Third response (25/3/2019) 
Objection:

 The assessment that the conflict with landscape 
policy NE9 being negligible is flawed – the wording 
of the policy clearly states that development will not 
be permitted if it would have an adverse effect on 
the landscape and this is not restricted to long 
distance views.

 The proposal is a very substantial building in the 
local context, with large scale landform change and 
a large car park in an area which is identified in the 
landscape character appraisal as highly sensitive 
and of low capacity to accommodate change and 
low robustness to change.

 The visualisations show a large urban building 
extremely close to the road and dominating the 
street scene. No matter what degree of landscaping 
is proposed, it will not fundamentally soften the 
impact.

 The amendments are an improvement on the 
original scheme, but they do not overcome the 
landscape and visual objection to a large modern 
building extremely close to the road in a highly 
sensitive gap between settlements.

 Only residents of Wolage Drive are within walking 
distance of the shop.

 Revised car park layout provides poor servicing 
arrangements particularly for HGVs.

 Without a plan to define the Limborough Road west 
site it is impossible to know if it is too small a site.

 In relation to the potential for a supermarket site at 
Grove Airfield it is not a requirement of the 
sequential test that there should be a clear proposal 
to develop alternative sites for the same 

Page 25



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

development; they should be suitable and available. 
A supermarket could be brought forward at this site.

 The cumulative retail impact upon Wantage, 
Grovelands and Grove Local Centre has significantly 
increased in the amended retail assessment which 
undermines the credibility of the assessment.

 The impacts would be a significant adverse impact 
on the centres and the proposal therefore conflicts 
with CP32.

 There is double counting of population figures from 
new housing sites in the data used which results in 
overestimation of the turnover of the centres.

 Concerns over the conclusions drawn in relation to 
the draw of customers from Zone 6, Faringdon

 Budgens still features as an identified shop despite 
its closure.

Fourth response (4/10/2018)
Objection:

 The current co-op shop is in a poor location, lacking 
commercial prominence and pass-by trade. The 
store regularly fails to meet its budget.

 The Lidl application delivers another negative blow 
to the store and no significant investment in the store 
will be made.

 The applicant forecasts an 11% impact on the store 
which is likely to be an underestimation. The Society 
would want to see the actual effect on its turnover 
before taking a decision on the store’s future.

 The future of the store could be at risk which could 
also lead to the loss of jobs.

Fifth response (30/08/2019)
Objection:

 The council should not give weight to Lidl’s 
operational needs in the sequential test. 

 Given the changes in impact figures in the revised 
retail assessment the original assessment was an 
inadequate basis for decision making.

 The figures on impacts on identified centres are still 
an underestimate.

 There is a double counting of population growth .
 There is an underestimation of the likely growth in 

the proposal’s turnover.
 There are unreasonable allowances for inflow 

expenditure, leading to inflated estimates of the 
turnover of centres.

Page 26



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

 There are unreasonable assumptions about trade 
draw to the Lidl store particularly from the Faringdon 
area.

 Co-op does not make decisions for closures on the 
basis of forecasts and it would not be closed until its 
actual trading position became clear, however it will 
not invest in the store until the application is 
determined.

 The council must assess the risks of closure of the 
store given that the Grovelands centre is anchored 
by the Co-op.

 The Co-op is central to the future of the Grovelands 
centre and without it, there would be a major loss of 
consumer choice.

 Grovelands centre is protected in local plan policy 
and any departure would need justification.

 The proposal would have a significant adverse 
impact on the three nearest centres, Grovelands, 
Grove and Wantage. 

 It is not a question of whether the anchor food 
retailers would remain trading, but what effect the 
reduced levels of trading would have on the centre.

 Grovelands and Grove centres are vulnerable due to 
their size and location without pass-by trade. 
Wantage town centre is unusually vulnerable for a 
town of its size as it has its main food stores in its 
centre. If their role is weakened, then the town 
centre is weakened.

 The onus is on the applicant to demonstrate the 
proposal would not have a significant adverse 
impact and planning permission should be refused 
where it fails to do so.

 There is nothing in the latest information that can 
lead to a change in view in respect of landscape 
impact.

 The applicant seeks to argue that the Elms Farm 
development determines the character of the area, 
but this is simply not true; it is the sloping land of the 
site itself that forms the foreground, dominates the 
views and determines the character of the edge of 
settlement.

 The proposal would diminish the physical and visual 
separation of the settlements of Grove and Wantage 
in a way that the Crab Hill development has been 
careful to avoid.

On behalf of 
Bushbuy Ltd 
(managing 
agents for 

Objection:
 Development is contrary to the development plan; 

the development plan makes no provision for 

Page 27



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

Kings Park, 
Limborough 
Road, 
Wantage)

additional retail floorspace outside of the Wantage 
town centre, the two shopping centres in Grove and 
the neighbourhood centres at Grove Airfield and 
Crab Hill.

 Preferential treatment should not be given to 
discount retailers.

 It is not credible to suggest that the size of store 
proposed will not function like any other supermarket

 A search of appeal decisions should be carried out 
to get an understanding of the weight to give to their 
business model.

 The 2017 update to the Retail and Town Centre 
Study estimates that there will be capacity for some 
additional net convenience floorspace in Wantage 
and Grove i.e. 1020 sq. metres and 1056 sq. metres 
by 2031.

 The retail studies do not however highlight problems 
with existing premises overtrading.

 There is no pressing need to provide additional 
floorspace in Wantage and Grove in the short-term.

 There have been no allocated sites for retail in Part 
1 or 2 or the Local Plan apart from the proposed 
neighbourhood centres at Grove Airfield and Crab 
Hill.

 The retail elements of these sites could be increased 
to accommodate the floorspace proposed.

 Trade diversion from Faringdon is not based on any 
data and is not credible.

 It is highly likely that a larger proportion of the 
proposed food store’s trade would be drawn from the 
existing food stores in Wantage and Grove.

 Impact assessment is not based on robust evidence 
and more rigorous analysis is required.

 Proper analysis of Lidl’s role as bulk or top-up 
shopping provider should be considered as it may 
have a greater impact upon existing shops.

 Consideration needs to be given to how thorough 
the sequential test has been applied with regards to 
flexibility.

 Consideration should be given to the P91/V0686 
refused application for a Safeway store off Mably 
Way.

 It will have a harmful impact on local landscape 
character and visual amenity. The effect of the 
development would be a prominent scar on the 
landscape.

 No reference has been made to floodlighting and 
illuminated signage which would be visually 
obtrusive in this rural, out of town location.

Page 28



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

Rowe’s 
Newsmarket/ 
Costcutter, 
Wantage

Objection:
 The application would put this store at risk would 

lead to the loss of jobs in the local areas as well as 
the loss of the Post Office which operates from 
within the store.

 Residents of Grove have recently canvassed to re-
open the Post Office within the store due to the 
closure of the Mc Colls store that previously housed 
the Post Office.

 Could result in the loss of 45 full and part-time staff 
(25 staff in the shop and 20 to deliver newspapers)

 Local businesses depend upon the Post Office as 
more banks close.

HarBUG (cycle 
lobby group)

First response (23/10/2018)
Objection:

 The plans show no respect for the cycle path along 
the A338.

 Lidl have ignored formal pre-app advice from OCC 
and have not provided a continuous cycle-priority 
crossing.

 Failure to respect the cycle path would represent a 
major loss of utility.

 Query as to whether a Vulnerable Road-User audit 
has been taken. 

 There is still no formally adopted Cycle Strategy for 
Wantage and Grove.

Second response (25/03/2019)
Objection:

 The re-submitted design still fails to properly address 
the existing cycleway.

 The design is not safe or suitable.
 The cycleway should have priority over turning 

vehicle traffic and the cycleway kerbs should not be 
deflected into the new access.

 The ‘Safety Assessment’ submitted fails to give due 
weight to the cycleway.

 The route is heavily used by children and is the main 
link between Wantage and Grove.

 CP35 of the VOWH Local Plan promotes cycling.

Petition A petition of 101 signatures in support of the application 
has been submitted.

Residents The following responses have been received:
38 letters objecting to the application.
6 letters of support in principle but raising other objections

Page 29



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

10 in support of the application.
Five responses making general comments.

The responses received are summarised as follows:

Retail/ Principle/ Location
 Support in principle for the added retail offering, 

there is a need for the store.
 Another supermarket in Wantage and Grove is a 

necessity.
 There is an empty premise near Sainsburys (the 

former TOFS site) which could be utilised.
 Wantage has an over-capacity of retail units.
 Questioning the need for an additional store, 

impacting upon existing facilities.
 The location is inappropriate and would draw 

shoppers away from the town centre.
 An alternative location near to the A417 should be 

considered.
 A site within one of the new housing developments 

would be better.
 Concerns regarding the green field site being 

considered when there are existing empty retail units 
within the town.

Landscape
 Fills the last piece of farmland separating Grove 

from Wantage.
 Fills in the gap between Wantage and Grove losing 

their individual identities.
 Changes the area from a rural gateway to an urban 

area detracting from the current attractive entrance 
to the town.

Design 
 Will be very unsightly.
 Not in keeping with area. Brick or render should be 

used.

Environmental
 Increase in noise and pollution as a result of more 

traffic along the A338.
 Impact upon air pollution.
 Environmentally unsustainable.
 Impact from light pollution.
 Noise pollution from traffic, plant and deliveries.
 Potential for flooding as a result of the large area of 

hardstanding on a sloping site.

Page 30



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

Highways/ Traffic
 Concerns regarding increased congestion on A338 

particularly during rush hour and school drop-off 
times.

 Traffic management surveys are inadequate; only 
two surveys were taken, and they appear to be out 
of peak hours.

 Traffic assessment underestimates traffic at peak 
times.

 Concern regarding safety of junction so close to 
Wolage Drive and given existing level of traffic along 
the A338.

 Access should be taken from the Mably Way 
roundabout. 

 Disabled parking spaces should have proper 
provision and space for a wheelchair access vehicle.

 No provision for staff parking.
 Traffic light controls should be installed to ensure 

safe use of the pedestrian/ cycle route.

Cycling/ Pedestrian Impact
 Concerns regarding the safety of cycling and 

pedestrians in conflict with the strategic cycle route 
which is very well used including by school children.

 Cycle path should have priority over vehicles using 
the junction.

Other concerns
 Toilets should be fully accessible with an adult 

changing bench and ceiling hoist meeting ‘Changing 
places’ standards.

 Lack of publicity regarding public consultation.
 Possibility of de-valuing properties opposite.

Following amendments, the following additional comments 
were received:

Retail/ Principle/ Location
 The proposed new supermarket is vital due to the 

ever-growing expansion of houses in Wantage and 
Grove.

 The development would improve local infrastructure 
and create jobs in the area.

 It would bring much needed choice to Grove and 
Wantage.

 There are large empty retail units in both Wantage 
(former TOFS store) and Grove (former McColl’s 
supermarket) both with existing parking provision. 

Page 31



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

 There is no justification for locating a large retail unit 
on a green field site between the two settlements 
when there are empty retail units on brown field sites 
that could be utilised. 

 The Local Plan noted that development for retail 
would be kept in the town centre.

 Not a suitable location for a supermarket.
 The 40 new jobs created by Lidl would be more than 

offset by the likely closure of marginal stores and the 
few independent retailers that remain.

Layout
 The proposal would obliterate the local landscape.
 The development is wholly incompatible with the 

rural character and appearance of the site.

Design 
 Support improvements to the aesthetics of the 

building.

Environmental
 Wildlife is being continually displaced by the amount 

of building in the area.
 Concern regarding noise from traffic and 

refrigerators.
 The countryside has already been obliterated by the 

Crab Hill development.

Highways/ Traffic
 The amendments do not improve the junction with 

the A338.
 This junction along with the road to Elm Farm 

Industrial estate and the new relief road will total 
three major road crossings of the cycle path within a 
few metres causing significant risk to children and 
road disruption. Access to the development should 
come off the new relief road. 

 The road will be continually gridlocked.
 Reversing delivery vehicles across the parent child 

parking bays seems madness.
 Site not suitable for large articulated lorries 

delivering to the site.
 Concerns with limitations of traffic modelling used.
 Removal of 10m from the host-island right turn lane 

will inevitably lead to traffic queuing for access 
during peak flows.

 The recommended 20m length of right turn access 
has evidently been specified for good reason and 
should not be removed.

Page 32



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

 Egress from Wolage Drive appears to be 
compromised.

 Concerns that customers and employees of the 
store will use Wolage Drive if the provided car park 
is full or blocked by queuing traffic.

 The access should have traffic signals to east entry 
and exit.

 Electric charging points should be provided.
 A discount retail store in Wantage/ Grove will stop 

traffic travelling further afield reducing the carbon 
footprint.

Cycling/ Pedestrian Impact
 Concerns as to conflicting plans showing the cycle 

path provision as to whether cyclists or cars have 
priority.

 Continued concerns over the access cutting across 
the long-established cycling and pedestrian track 
between Wantage and Grove, adding another 
interruption to what is one of the best pieces of 
segregated active travel infrastructure in the county.

 The route is very well used by cyclists, walkers, 
wheelchair users and school children.

 If the access to the store cannot be off the new link 
road then considerable work needs to be done to 
ensure priority to users of the track and offset to the 
road.

 The shop should be designed to encourage people 
to travel by foot, cycling or public transport.

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 There is no planning application history specific to this development site.

3.2 Pre-application History
P18/V1566/PEJ – (28/09/2018)
Proposed new food store and parking with access leading from Grove Road.
Officers advised that they would be unlikely to support the application due to 
significant landscape and design concerns.

3.3 Screening Opinion requests
None

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 The development includes more than 1 hectare of urban development which is 

not dwelling house development. It constitutes Schedule 2 development under 
the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017. Having taken account of the selection criteria at schedule 3 
of the Regulations it is considered this proposal is not EIA development. 

Page 33

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/V1566/PEJ


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

5.0 MAIN ISSUES
The main issues are:

1. The principle of development
2. Retail Sequential Test
3. Retail Impact Test
4. Impact on Community Services and Facilities
5. Design, Landscape and Visual Impact
6. Flood risk and drainage
7. Traffic, parking and highway safety
8. Historic environment
9. Archaeology
10.Biodiversity
11. Impact upon residential amenity
12.Developer Contributions

5.1 The principle of development
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 
70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the development plan, 
so far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations. 
The development plan for this proposal currently comprises the adopted Local 
Plan 2031 Part 1 and the Local Plan 2031 Part 2.

5.2 Other material planning considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework and guidance within the National Planning Practice Guidance.

5.3 The application site lies outside the development boundary of both Grove and 
Wantage as defined by the Policies Map and Policy CP3 of the Local Plan 
2031 Part 1. The site is not allocated for any uses within Part 1 or Part 2 of the 
Local Plan 2031.

5.4 Policy CP3 identifies Wantage as a Market Town and Grove as a Local Service 
Centre. This policy indicates that Market Towns have the greatest long-term 
potential to accommodate development, and Local Service Centres will provide 
the next best opportunities for sustainable development outside the Market 
Towns. The site therefore is considered to form part of the open countryside.

5.5 Policy CP32 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 has a town centre first approach and 
will only support retail development that is on the edge or outside a town centre 
location if it is demonstrated that the proposal satisfies a sequential test to site 
selection and, where the proposal is greater than 500 square metres (in this 
location) an impact assessment confirms that there are no likely significant 
adverse impacts on the vitality and viability of nearby centres.

5.6 The application site is outside a town centre location and therefore both a retail 
sequential test and impact test is required to be satisfied. 

Page 34



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

5.7 Retail Sequential Test
Paragraphs 85-88 of the NPPF sets out the sequential approach for main town 
centre uses. Paragraph 86 states ‘Main town centre uses should be located in 
town centres, then in edge of centre locations; and only if suitable sites are not 
available (or expected to become available within a reasonable period) should 
out of centre sites be considered. When considering what a reasonable period 
is for this purpose, the scale and complexity of the proposed scheme and of 
potentially suitable town or edge of centre sites should be taken into account’.

5.8 The Planning Practice Guidance at paragraph 011 states that the applicant 
must demonstrate compliance with the sequential test, the requirements of 
which must be proportionate and appropriate for the given proposal. Applicants 
must demonstrate a certain degree of flexibility in terms of location and scale of 
proposal. Applicants must show that the suitability of more central sites to 
accommodate the proposal has been considered and demonstrate where there 
is scope for flexibility in the format of the proposal. The sequential test is 
passed whereby no suitable sequentially preferable sites are identified to host 
the proposed development.

5.9 A Sequential test has been submitted in support of the application and this has 
been assessed by an independent retail consultant on behalf of the local 
planning authority.

5.10 The applicant has sought to argue that the sequential test, particularly in regard 
to flexibility, should be applied on the basis of the Limited Assortment 
Discounter (such as Lidl) business model in terms of setting specific size and 
site configurations required by such a retailer. It has been confirmed in the 
Courts (Aldergate Properties Ltd v Mansfield District Council 2016) that the 
sequential test will generally be applied on the basis of the use that is being 
proposed and not the operator. The applicant is seeking permission for a Class 
A1 foodstore and therefore the sequential test must be assessed based on 
whether alternative sites could accommodate a Class A1 foodstore of the 
broad format proposed (allowing for appropriate flexibility) and not based on a 
discount operator Class A1 foodstore.

5.11 The retail consultant has advised that the proposed store could be 
accommodated on a much smaller site than the 1.48 hectare site area, given 
that the site area includes a substantial amount of highway land and a buffer 
around the site. It is considered that a similar sized foodstore may be able to be 
accommodated on a site of approximately 0.60 hectares and it is on this basis 
in which sequentially alternative sites should be assessed. 

5.12 The submitted sequential test has considered the following locations for 
suitable alternative sites:
- Vacant units within defined centres
- Limborough Road, Wantage
- Land to the west of Limborough Road and to the east of Letcombe Brook in 

Wantage 
- The former Grove Airfield site in Grove
- Land at Crab Hill Wantage

Page 35



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

- Land at Church Street Wantage

5.13 The assessment confirms there aren’t any existing premises within the defined 
centres of Grove and Wantage, including within the Limborough Road 
development (now known as Kings Park) that are both available and suitable to 
accommodate the proposal. Vacant sites that have been raised in consultation 
responses including the former Original Factory Shop and Carphone 
Warehouse units in Wantage and the former McColl’s unit at Millbrook Square, 
Grove are of an insufficient size to accommodate the proposed development 
and are therefore not suitable.  

5.14 The site to the west of Limborough Road and east of Letcombe Brook has 
been considered but it has a limited site area and there is an extant permission 
for its redevelopment with construction underway. Therefore, it too is not 
considered to be available or suitable to accommodate the proposed 
development. Similarly, given that a large proportion of the Church Street site 
has been built out as a retirement village that site is also not available to 
accommodate the proposed development.

5.15 The Crab Hill development to the east of Wantage is subject to an approved 
Development Brief for the neighbourhood centre which confirms that there will 
be 400 square metres of food retail floorspace within the development.  This 
floorspace would not be sufficient to accommodate the proposed development.

5.16 Outline planning permission for the strategic housing allocation at the former 
Grove Airfield confirms that the site will have a local centre including A1 uses 
however the permission and its associated S106 agreement allows for a 
flexible approach to the composition of the local centre, dependent upon the 
market position after the occupation of 500 dwellings on site. A development 
brief for the local centre is required to be submitted prior to the occupation of 
the 250th occupation which would give the first indication of the proposed 
nature of the local centre.

5.17 Development has commenced on site at Grove Airfield but is currently 
expected to take until 2039/2040 to complete. The current phasing plan 
submitted to discharge this requirement of the outline consent identifies that the 
local centre will be delivered by approximately 1300 dwellings which would be 
in approximately 10 years based on the current predicted trajectory. 

5.18 Whilst it could be possible for a supermarket to form part of the Grove Airfield 
development, there is currently no such proposal and it would be a number of 
years before the exact nature of the local centre is defined and significantly 
longer before such a proposal could come forward. It is therefore considered 
that the Airfield site is not operationally suitable to accommodate the proposed 
development at this time, nor would it be made available within a reasonable 
timeframe. The site is therefore not considered to be a sequentially preferable 
location.

Page 36



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

5.19 Overall, officers accept there are no sequentially preferable sites that are both 
available and suitable to accommodate the application proposal and the 
sequential test is therefore passed.

5.20 Retail Impact Test
Policy CP32 of the adopted Local Plan 2031 Part 1 sets a local floorspace 
threshold whereby proposals for retail or other main town centre uses greater 
than 500 square metres (in this location) must provide an impact assessment 
to confirm that there are no likely significant adverse impacts on the vitality and 
viability of nearby centres as a result of the proposed development. 

5.21 Paragraph 89 of the NPPF states that an impact assessment should include an 
assessment of:

a) The impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public 
and private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of 
the proposal, and

b) The impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including 
local consumer choice and trade in the town centre and the wider retail 
catchment (as applicable to the scale and nature of the scheme).

5.22 Paragraph 90 states that where an application is likely to have significant 
adverse impact on one or more of the above considerations then it should be 
refused.

5.23 Advice in Paragraph 017 and 018 of the Planning Practice Guidance states: ‘it 
is for the applicant to demonstrate compliance with the impact test in support of 
relevant applications. (…) 

A judgement as to whether the likely adverse impacts are significant can only 
be reached in light of local circumstances. For example, in areas where there 
are high levels of vacancy and limited retailer demand, even very modest trade 
diversion from a new development may lead to a significant adverse impact’.

5.24 Appendix I of Local Plan 2031 Part 2 defines the town centre area of Wantage 
and Appendix J identifies Local Shopping Centres at Millbrook Square and 
Grovelands in Grove

5.25 The applicant’s retail impact assessment has also been reviewed by an 
independent consultant on behalf of the council. As a result of advice received, 
the applicant has submitted an Addendum to the Retail Impact Assessment in 
March 2019 and a further response in July 2019.

5.26 The retail consultant has advised that with regards to the first part of the impact 
assessment as set out in Paragraph 89 of the NPPF, the proposed 
development is not likely to have a significant adverse impact upon existing, 
committed and planned public or private investment in any centre in the 
catchment area of the proposed site. There is no known investment in any 
existing centre in Wantage or Grove. In addition, given the range of uses 
expected at the planned local centre to be developed at Grove Airfield and 

Page 37



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

given its location within its own residential catchment, the independent 
consultant has advised that the proposed development is not likely to impact 
the future delivery of the local centre at Grove Airfield.

5.27 With regards to the impact on town centre vitality and viability, including local 
consumer choice and trade in town centre and the wider retail catchments, the 
retail consultant has advised that there are a number of outstanding issues, 
despite the revisions made to the applicant’s retail impact assessment. These 
issues are detailed below:

5.28 i. Predicted population growth overstated
The level of population growth in 2024 has been overstated due to 
double counting of population growth, which results in the overall 
level of convenience goods expenditure being overstated and 
therefore the performance of food stores within the area are also 
overstated (albeit by a relatively limited amount). The applicant has 
acknowledged that there is some double counting in the 
methodology used but has not provided an alternative methodology 
or revised impact assessment which takes account of this.

ii. Unrealistic level of inflow to the Co-op at Grovelands centre from 
outside of Wantage, Grove and Faringdon
The applicant’s impact assessment assumes that the level of inflow 
to the Co-op from outside of Wantage, Grove and Faringdon will be 
12%. The independent consultant advises that as Co-op is a small 
supermarket, sited within a housing estate and not visible to the 
wider area, it will likely not benefit from any material level of inflow 
from outside Wantage, Grove and Faringdon. In their further retail 
statement submitted in July 2019, the applicant has acknowledged 
that the 12% inflow allowance attributed to the store could he halved 
to 6%. The retail consultant maintains that this is likely too high and, 
in any event, a revised impact assessment amending the applicant’s 
position has not been submitted.

iii. Underestimation of the likely turnover of the proposed development 
by approximately £1.24 million. 
The independent consultant advises that the figures used in 
calculating the turnover of the proposed store are inconsistent.

iv. Impact assessment does not take into consideration the additional 
retail store approved at Faringdon Park (Phase 2) application ref. 
P18/V0442/FUL.
The applicant argues that this development (which is expected to 
provide a Home Bargains) will compete most directly with retail 
facilities in Faringdon given its location and that Home Bargains is 
already represented in Wantage. The independent consultant 
acknowledges that very little trade is likely to be diverted from the 
Co-op at Grovelands (of most concern in this assessment) to the 
committed store in Faringdon but that the applicant’s impact 
assessment should still include the committed development. 

Page 38



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

v. Underestimation of the impact of the committed retail floor space at 
Crab Hill and Grove Airfield on Millbrook Square and Grovelands 
local shopping centres in Grove.
This underestimation may further compound the impact of this 
proposed development.

vi. Patterns of trade draw inaccurate
Trade draw is the amount of trade that will be drawn from existing 
retailers to the proposed development. The independent consultant 
advises that the applicant’s assessment has assumed that slightly 
too much of the turnover of the site will be drawn from existing 
retailers in Wantage and Faringdon and slightly too little from those 
in Grove. The applicant’s trade diversion assessment therefore 
overstates the impacts arising at the proposed development at 
relatively distant destinations and understates the impacts arising 
more locally, for example at the Local Shopping Centres in Grove. 

5.29 The retail consultant advises that as a result of these issues the impacts arising 
on local food stores as a result of the proposed development may be higher 
than those identified by the applicant’s assessment. Officers are advised that 
Sainsburys and Waitrose in Wantage and Tesco Express in Grove are 
performing strongly and would likely to continue to trade in a viable manner if 
the proposed development were to be implemented. 

5.30 The Co-op store at Grovelands centre however does not appear to be 
performing strongly and consultation responses received from those acting on 
behalf of the store affirm this view. The retail consultant advises that even the 
level of trade diversion from the Co-op to the proposed store suggested by the 
applicant does not demonstrate that the store would have a viable future and, 
as previously stated, this is underestimated. Officers are advised there is the 
potential for the Co-op to close as a result of the proposed development. 

5.31 Strategic Objective SO7 of the Local Plan 2031 is to maintain and enhance the 
vitality and viability of the Vale’s town centres and local shopping centres in 
order to strengthen their service centre roles. Grovelands centre in Grove is 
identified as a Local Shopping Centre in Appendix J of LPP2. The Vale of 
White Horse Retail and Town Centres Study 2017 Update confirms that the 
Grovelands centre is anchored by the Co-op store, therefore any significant 
impact upon the co-op store as a result of the proposed development will have 
a direct impact upon the designated Local Shopping Centre as a whole. 

5.32 The retail consultant has advised that the likely trade diversion to the proposed 
development from the Co-op would comprise a significant adverse impact in 
the context of its identified existing trading performance and would result in a 
significant adverse impact on Grovelands centre as a whole. As such, the 
proposal fails to demonstrate compliance with the impact test set out in Core 
Policy 32 and paragraph 89 of the NPPF.

Page 39



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

5.33 Paragraph 90 of the NPPF indicates that, where an application is likely to have 
a significant adverse impact on a defined centre, it should be refused. 

5.34 Impact on Community Services and Facilities
Officers are aware that the Co-op at Grovelands store also provides Post Office 
services for Grove. 

5.35 DP8 of Local Plan 2031 Part 2 seeks to protect existing community services 
and facilities and proposals involving the loss of an existing facility will need to 
provide evidence to demonstrate how the facility is no longer economically 
viable and/ or no longer meets a local need.

5.36 Paragraph 92 of the NPPF states that: 
‘To provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the 
community needs, planning policies and decisions should:

a) Plan positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, community 
facilities (such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open 
space, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship) and other 
local services to enhance the sustainability of communities and 
residential environments

(…)

c) Guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, 
particularly where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-
to-day needs
d) ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able to develop 
and modernise, and are retained for the benefit of the community’.

5.37 Officers are aware of the recent High Court Judgement R (Patel) v Dacorum 
Borough Council [2019] EWHC 1234 (Admin) which emphasises the need to 
consider the potential implications of a proposal on community facilities and 
which in that case considered a Post Office to be a community facility.

5.38 Given that the Post Office for Grove is located within the Co-op at Grovelands, 
any significant adverse impact upon the Grovelands centre and the Co-op store 
directly, as identified above, is likely to also affect the provision of the Post 
Office within the Grovelands Local Shopping Centre. Given that the Co-op 
store is not currently performing well and will be significantly adversely 
impacted by the proposed development which may result in its closure, officers 
are concerned of the potential risk for the Groveland centre’s Post Office facility 
to also be lost. 

5.39 The application therefore fails to guard against the potential unnecessary loss 
of a valued community facility and service which would impact the community’s 
ability to meet its day-to-day needs, contrary to policy DP8 of the Local Plan 
2031 Part 2 and paragraph 92 of the NPPF.

5.40 Design, Landscape and Visual Impact

Page 40



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

CP37 of the adopted Local Plan 2031 Part 1 states that proposals for new 
development will be required to be of a high quality design that responds 
positively to the site and surroundings. Proposals are also required to be 
visually attractive and the scale, height, density, grain, massing, type, details 
and materials should be appropriate for the site and surrounding area.

5.41 Policy CP44 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 states that the key features that 
contribute to the nature and quality of the Vale of White Horse District’s 
landscape will be protected from harmful development and where possible 
enhanced. Where development is acceptable, measures should be sought to 
integrate development into the landscape character of the area. Proposals will 
need to demonstrate how they have responded to the landscape character by 
incorporating appropriate landscape proposals and preserving and promoting 
local distinctiveness.

5.42 Development Policy 29 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 2 states that development 
proposals will need to demonstrate that settlement character is retained, and 
physical and visual separation is maintained between settlements. 
Development proposals will only be permitted provided that the physical and 
visual separation between two settlements is not unacceptably diminished 
individually, or cumulatively with other existing or proposed development and 
that it does not lead to the loss of environmental or historical assets that 
contribute towards local identity. 

5.43 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that decisions should ensure that 
development will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, are 
visually attractive and are sympathetic to local character and history, including 
the surrounding built environment and landscape setting. 

5.44 Paragraph 130 states that permission should be refused for development of 
poor design that fails to take opportunities available for improving the character 
and quality of an area and the way it functions.

5.45 Paragraph 170 states that decisions should contribute to and enhance the 
natural and local environment by recognising the intrinsic character and beauty 
of the countryside.

5.46 Landscape and Visual Impact
The council’s Landscape Character Assessment 2008, which formed part of 
the evidence base for the Local Plan 2031 Part 1, identifies the site within an 
area known as Elms Farm Hillside. The report states that the application site is 
a locally very important landscape that makes a big contribution to the 
character of Wantage and Grove. The report assesses this area as having a 
high sensitivity in accommodating major change, that the area would only be 
able to accept a low level of change without resulting in an adverse effect on 
the landscape character and therefore the area has a low level of robustness 
and is not robust enough for development to take place.

5.47 The council’s Landscape Character Assessment 2017, which formed part of 
the evidence base for the Local Plan 2031 Part 2 identifies the site within an 

Page 41



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

area known as the Wantage to Milton Heights Downs Footslopes. The report 
states that development associated with larger settlements in this character 
area should be carefully considered to prevent detrimental effects on the 
landscape and the AONB. The report continues that in this character area the 
spread of ribbon or sporadic development along roads should be resisted, gaps 
between settlements should be conserved to prevent coalescence and to retain 
separate settlement identities and development should be controlled to ensure 
that new development is sympathetic to the wider pattern of settlements.

5.48 Given the site’s location, officers do not consider that the proposed 
development will have any material effect on the setting of the North Wessex 
Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty; however, the effect of the 
proposed development on its local landscape setting is of concern. 

5.49 As identified in the Council’s Landscape Character Assessments the hillside 
forms part of a locally very important landscape, making a big contribution to 
the character and separation between Wantage and Grove. The site slopes 
from west to east towards the A338. There are clear public views of the site 
from the Mably Way roundabout to the south and along the whole site frontage 
and further north along the A338 beyond the Elms Farm Business Park access. 
The views of the site, particularly southwards, contribute to the local landscape 
character providing clear, discernible separation between Grove and Wantage.  

5.50 The proposed development is for a large single storey building along the 
majority of the southern boundary of the site with hardstanding for car parking 
to the north. To accommodate the proposed development on the sloping site, 
significant retaining structures are required along the southern and eastern 
boundaries. Some landscaping is proposed around the boundaries of the site.

5.51 The Landscape Architect has advised that the Landscape and Visual Appraisal 
and the additional landscape responses submitted by the applicant, do not fully 
explore the role the hillside plays in the local landscape both in terms of 
landscape character and visual amenity, nor do they fully explore the impact of 
the highly engineered scheme, car parking, built form and associated lighting in 
this location.

5.52 This application is being considered in the context of the approved strategic 
housing development at Crab Hill to the south east of the site which will form 
the northern boundary of Wantage. The landscape strategy and approved 
plans for Crab Hill ensure that any built development is restricted to beyond the 
crest of the hill to the south to maintain the visual and physical separation 
between Grove and Wantage. The landscape strategy includes a broad 
landscape buffer to the west of the Crab Hill site and along the northern 
boundary to achieve this and the section of the Wantage Eastern Link Road 
currently under construction is being constructed within a cutting to reduce its 
effect on the landscape character and to prevent coalescence of the 
settlements. This application site however is north of the link road and the edge 
of Wantage, and east of the A338 and Grove. The merits of the design and 
layout of the proposed development are discussed in detail below, however 
officers consider that the proposal would introduce significant built development 

Page 42



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

in a sporadic form not in keeping with the existing settlement pattern which will 
diminish both the physical and visual separation of Wantage and Grove. 

5.53 Design
The proposed building is of an ordinary, functional design. It is to be single 
storey with a mono-pitch roof sloping to the south with glazing to the west onto 
the A338. Information submitted with the application indicates that the building 
has been designed to be set into the rising land, using retaining structures and 
landscaping to limit and screen the public views of the site. The retaining 
structures are substantial and are proposed to be planted with native shrubs 
and climbers. The Landscape Architect originally raised concerns with the 
feasibility of successful planting on these slopes however, following the 
submission of additional information, officers are satisfied that the proposed 
planting on the retaining structures could technically be achieved.  
Notwithstanding concern remains regarding their visual impact on the character 
of the area.

5.54 Following comments and discussions with the Urban Design officer and case 
officer, amendments to the elevational treatment of the building were proposed. 
It is now proposed for elevations to be built using buff brick and cedar cladding. 
The Urban Design officer has advised that the materials and detailing proposed 
are sympathetic and bring a degree of articulation to the scheme. The material 
palette suggested is more appropriate to the local context and the more 
contemporary nature of the design is welcomed. 

5.55 The proposed car parking is of a very standardised design with very little 
landscaping within or at the edges to break up the visual dominance of its 
hardstanding. Due to the size of the building, very little space is available for 
landscape planting particularly on the western edge which would result in a 
very hard edge to the development. There are also conflicts between the 
proposed street lighting columns and proposed tree planting which will result in 
the loss of further planting from an already limited planting scheme should it be 
built out as currently proposed.

5.56 Summary of Design and Landscape considerations
The application site has been identified as being locally important to the local 
character as well as providing visual and physical separation between Wantage 
and Grove. 

5.57 Officers consider that the proposed development fails to recognise the intrinsic 
character and beauty of the countryside and is not sympathetic to the local 
character and landscape setting. It does not improve the character and quality 
of the area and is detrimental to the way that the site functions in providing 
important landscape character, visual amenity and a separation between 
Wantage and Grove. The landscape setting, which has been identified as being 
locally very important, is not protected or enhanced by the proposed 
development. 

5.58 The substantial retaining structures are at odds with the smaller scale open 
field network in the area. Whilst the retaining walls can be planted and some 

Page 43



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

limited soft landscaping of the scheme is provided, which may help to soften 
the impact of the building and hardstanding to an extent, officers do not 
consider that the proposed development responds to the site and its 
surrounding landscape character or preserves local distinctiveness. The 
development is not well integrated into the landscape character of the area; it is 
at odds with the rural interface and the important role the site plays in terms of 
visual and physical separation between Wantage and Grove. 

5.59 Officers therefore consider that the proposed development is contrary to Core 
Policies 37 and 44 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1, to Development Policy 29 of 
the Local Plan 2031 Part 2 and to paragraphs 127, 130 and 170 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

5.60 Flood Risk and drainage
A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted in support of the 
application and indicates that the site is at a low risk of flooding from all 
sources. 

5.61 Surface Water drainage
The FRA states that the site is not suitable for infiltration drainage and 
discharge to a watercourse is not possible, therefore the drainage strategy 
proposes a restricted discharge of surface water into an existing Thames Water 
sewer in the adjacent road with crated attenuation.

5.62 Following clarification of compliance with the drainage hierarchy, neither 
Thames Water nor the Drainage engineer have raised objections to this 
approach however the drainage engineer has recommended that a condition 
requiring full details of the surface water drainage scheme are provided by 
condition. 

5.63 Thames Water have advised that there is an inability of the existing surface 
water infrastructure to accommodate the needs of the proposed development 
and have requested a condition restricting occupation (use) of the proposed 
development until it has been confirmed that all surface water network 
upgrades required have been completed, or an alternative plan has been 
agreed. 

5.64 Foul Water drainage
Foul water drainage will be discharged to an existing foul water sewer. Thames 
Water have raised no objections with regards to foul water sewage network 
infrastructure capacity. The drainage engineer has recommended that should 
the application be approved, details of the foul water drainage should be 
required by condition. 

5.65 Ground water drainage
The FRA does indicate that as the site will involve cutting into the hillside by 
approximately 8 metres there may be an increased risk of groundwater 
affecting the proposed development. The drainage engineer has recommended 

Page 44



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

that should the application be approved details of measures for draining 
groundwater from the site should be submitted by condition. 

5.66 Should the application be approved, officers are satisfied that the site can be 
adequately drained to comply with policy CP42 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1, 
subject to further details required by condition relating to surface, foul and 
groundwater drainage.

5.67 Traffic, parking and highway safety
The application is supported by a Transport Assessment (TA). The highway 
authority has reviewed all of the information submitted and following receipt of 
amended plans raise no objections on highway grounds, subject to conditions.

5.68 Traffic impact
Traffic surveys were carried out during non-peak hours (1600-1900 weekday 
and 1000-1400 Saturday). The highway authority has noted that a weekday AM 
peak period has not been surveyed but does not raise a concern regarding this. 
Whilst the proposed retail development will generate further traffic along the 
A338, this will represent a very small percentage increase when compared to 
the present day two-way flow along the route. 

5.69 Access
Following comments from the highway authority, the proposed access to the 
development has been relocated to be served from the A338 to the west at 
approximately the centre point of the site frontage. The access would be 
formed with a right turn lane on the A338 to avoid conflict with other junctions 
on the road. Grove Road will be widened on the eastern side of the 
carriageway using the existing grass verge and adjusting the alignment of the 
existing shared cycle/ footway to accommodate the proposed access. 

5.70 Concerns have been raised by your officers, local interest groups and residents 
that priority at the access should be given to pedestrians and cyclists using the 
existing shared path along the eastern side of the A338. Amendments to the 
proposed access have aligned a length of the pathway on either side of the 
access to be set back further from the carriageway, so that the pathway 
approaches the access on an alignment parallel to the carriageway. This 
provides cyclists with a sense of awareness at the junction to be able to assess 
traffic conditions more readily and provides a priority of movement across the 
access. Give way points have also been indicated on the site access road at 
the point the pathway crosses to indicate the priority to cyclists and 
pedestrians. 

5.71 An existing signalised Toucan crossing is located approximately 30 metres to 
the south of the proposed access and a southbound bus stop is a further 30 
metres to the south. Following concerns raised by the highway authority, 
amended plans have been received indicating how both existing features can 
be safely accommodated with the proposed access layout. The previously 
shown central refuge at the signalised crossed has been removed allowing for 

Page 45



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

single pedestrian movement across the A338. The amended layout has also 
relocated the southbound bus stop. 

5.72 The swept path analysis provided indicates that an articulated HGV lorry could 
manoeuvre within the site, turn to access the loading bay and leave in a 
forward gear. The highway authority has raised concerns with the vehicle 
tracking which indicates that when such a vehicle would make a right turn into 
the site access from the A338, the rear end of the vehicle would swing into the 
northbound through lane potentially leading to serious side swipe collisions. 
The highway authority is however satisfied that the necessary minor 
adjustments to kerb-lines to rectify this issue could be made and resolved 
through the technical Section 278 process. 

5.73 The highway authority is also satisfied that the Stage One Road Safety Audit 
Report has been carried out appropriately.

5.74 Parking
120 car parking spaces are proposed to be provided including 8 parent and 
child and 8 disabled spaces to DDA standards. In addition, 12 cycle parking 
spaces will be provided. The highway authority has confirmed this is a suitable 
level of provision. 

5.75 Elms Farm Access
The TA states that the existing Elms Farm access road to the north of the site 
would remain unaltered.

5.76 The highway authority has referred to a submitted application for development 
at Elms Farm Business Park (application ref. P18/V2025/O) and has noted that 
should the proposed access within this application be implemented, the 
opportunities for achieving a satisfactory access for the proposed Business 
Park development may be compromised or limited. Each application however 
must be considered on its own merits. As such, the access arrangements 
proposed have been assessed on serving the proposed development within 
this application only. 

5.77 Traffic, parking and highway safety summary
The highway authority has raised no objections to the proposed development 
subject to conditions and S106 contributions. Should the application be 
approved, officers are satisfied that a safe and convenient access for vehicles, 
pedestrians and cyclists can be provided. Furthermore, the proposed 
development will not result in a severe impact upon the capacity of the 
surrounding road network.

5.78 Historic Environment
The Grade II listed building Elms Farmhouse lies approximately 87 metres 
north of the application site on the western side of Grove Road. The 
Conservation Officer has raised no objections to the application. Given the 
existing context of the listed building with residential dwellings on either side 
and given the distance to the application site, officers are satisfied that the 

Page 46



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

proposed development will not have a detrimental effect upon the setting of the 
listed building.

5.79 Archaeology
The County Archaeologist has identified that the site is within an area of 
archaeological potential; to the south east are two later prehistoric and Romano 
British occupation sites. The archaeologist advises that whilst there is currently 
no indication that archaeological features of such significance as to preclude 
the principle of development are present, archaeological investigation should 
be undertaken in advance of the commencement of development on site. 

5.80 Officers are satisfied that should the application to be approved, archaeological 
matters could be dealt with by condition, requiring the application to implement 
a staged programme of archaeological investigation prior to development 
commencing.

5.81 Biodiversity
A preliminary ecological appraisal and a reptile survey report were submitted in 
support of the application. No evidence of protected species was noted on site 
and the reptile surveys did not reveal any populations of reptiles. The 
Countryside Officer is also satisfied that there is no reasonable likelihood of 
Great Crested Newts being adversely impacted by this development due to the 
separation of the site from confirmed records by the Letcombe brook, a 
housing development (Wolage Drive) and the A338. 

5.82 The Countryside Officer identified the habitats on site as priority habitats and 
raised concerns that the proposed scheme was unlikely to achieve a no net 
loss of biodiversity as required by Core Policy 46 of LPP1 and paragraph 170 
of the NPPF. Subsequently the applicant submitted a biodiversity impact 
assessment, utilising a biodiversity impact calculator to quantify the loss to 
biodiversity as a result of the proposed scheme.

5.83 The assessment concludes that taking account of the benefits of the proposed 
soft landscaping, the proposed scheme would result in a net loss of 3.45 
biodiversity units. Therefore, an offsetting payment to an approved Biodiversity 
Offsetting Scheme is required to address this net loss to biodiversity resource 
which could be secured via a planning obligation.

5.84 Officers are satisfied that should the application be approved; the applicant 
could be required to make a payment into a biodiversity offsetting scheme to 
ensure that there is no net loss of biodiversity and this could be secured via a 
planning obligation. The application would then be compliant with Core Policy 
46 of Local Plan 2031 Part 1.

5.85 Impact upon residential amenity
The nearest residential properties to the application site are those properties in 
Wolage Drive on the western side of Grove Road and Stone Haven which lies 
adjacent to the eastern boundary of the site. 

Page 47



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

5.86 The new building will of course be very visible to adjacent residential properties 
but given the significant distances between the proposed building and existing 
properties, officers do not consider that there will be a detrimental impact upon 
residential amenity in terms of loss of privacy, daylight or sunlight, or from 
visual intrusion.

5.87 Light pollution
Whilst some lighting information has been provided in support of the 
application, this does not provide details of the design of the lighting proposed 
and there are conflicts between the proposed lighting columns and proposed 
tree planting. Should the application be approved a condition could be secured 
requiring details of external lighting to be provided to ensure it is appropriate in 
both design and light levels to the site’s setting and adjacent uses to accord 
with policy DP21 of Local Plan 2031 Part 2

5.88 Noise pollution
An Acoustics assessment has been submitted in support of the application 
which assesses the impact of activities associated with the proposed new store 
on existing residential properties adjacent to the site.

5.89 In reviewing the assessment, the Environmental Health Officer concludes that 
the noise from external plant and deliveries has been suitably assessed and is 
forecast to have a low impact, below existing background noise levels. Officers 
are satisfied that should the application be approved the proposed 
development will not have a significant adverse impact on residential amenity 
in terms of noise.

5.90 Developer Contributions
The NPPF advises that planning obligations should only be sought where they 
meet all of the following tests in paragraph 56: 

I. Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms; 

II. Directly related to the development; and
III. Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 

development.

5.91 Policy CP7 of Local Plan 2031 Part 1 provides that development will only be 
permitted where the necessary physical infrastructure and service 
requirements to support the development can be secured.

5.92 Should the application be approved the following developer contributions would 
be considered fair and proportionate and could be secured though a section 
106 agreement:

District Council Amount (£)
Public art (£10 per sqm.) £21,060 
Biodiversity offsetting 
contribution

TBC

S106 monitoring fee £565

Page 48



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

Total £21,625 (+ biodiversity 
offsetting) 

Oxfordshire County Council Amount (£)
Public transport services - to 
enhance bus services serving 
grove and Wantage

£21,431.37

Public transport infrastructure – 
Provision of a cantilever type 
shelter and real-time information 
if not secured through a Section 
278/38 agreement)

£21,849.23

Travel Plan Monitoring £1,414.08
Total £44,694.68

5.93 Community Infrastructure Levy
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule was adopted in 
September 2017 and implemented in November 2017.

5.94 CIL is a levy charged on new development in the district; the money raised will 
be used to fund infrastructure and support growth. In general, off-site mitigation 
would be sough via CIL and on-site elements and direct mitigation elements 
would still be sought via a S106 agreement and as such are listed in the table 
above.

5.95 The CIL charging schedule identifies that supermarket development will be 
chargeable at a rate of £100 per square metre of floorspace (subject to index 
linking). Should the application be approved CIL would be charged for the 2106 
square metres gross internal floorspace proposed with a total of £210,600 
(index linked). 

6.0 CONCLUSION
6.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.2 In assessing the application, officers are mindful of the potential benefits of the 
proposed development. The store would provide an improvement to the local 
food retail offer, as there is not currently a discount food retailer operating in 
Wantage or Grove. This would also reduce the need to travel to such stores 
further afield providing some social and environmental benefits. In addition, the 
scheme would see the creation of both construction and operational jobs which 
would provide economic benefit to the local area. 

6.3 Officers however do not consider that such benefits outweigh the identified harm 
in terms of retail impact and landscape. 

6.4 The proposed development will result in a significant adverse impact on the 
Grovelands local shopping centre as a result of the effect of the proposed 
development on the centre’s anchor store; the Co-op. Officers also consider that 

Page 49



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

the proposed development has fails to guard against the potential loss of the 
Post Office, a valued community facility situated within the Co-op store, which 
would impact the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs. This will be 
harmful to the vitality and viability of the centre, contrary to Core Policy 32 of the 
Local Plan 2031 Part 1 and paragraph 89, 90 and 92 of the NPPF.

6.5 Officers consider that the proposed development is harmful to the local 
landscape character identified as being locally important. The proposed scheme 
is not well integrated into the local character of the area and is at odds with the 
rural interface and the important role the site plays in terms of visual and 
physical separation between Wantage and Grove. This is contrary to Core 
Policies 37 and 44 of the Local Plan 20321 Part 1, Development Policy 29 of the 
Local Plan 2031 Part 2 and paragraphs 127, 130 and 170 of the NPPF.

6.6  It is therefore recommended that the application be refused for the reasons 
stated at the beginning of this report.

7.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
7.1 The following planning policies have been taken in to account:

7.2 Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 policies;

CP01  -  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CP03  -  Settlement Hierarchy
CP07  -  Providing Supporting Infrastructure and Services
CP20  -  Spatial Strategy for Western Vale Sub-Area
CP32  -  Retail Development and other Main Town Centre Uses
CP33  -  Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility
CP35  -  Promoting Public Transport, Cycling and Walking
CP37  -  Design and Local Distinctiveness
CP38  -  Design Strategies for Strategic and Major Development Sites
CP39  - The Historic Environment
CP40  -  Sustainable Design and Construction
CP42  -  Flood Risk
CP43  -  Natural Resources
CP44  -  Landscape
CP46  -  Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity
DP08    - Community Services and Facilities
DP16  -  Access
DP17  -  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
DP20  - Public Art
DP21  -  External Lighting
DP23  -  Impact of Development on Amenity
DP25  -  Noise Pollution
DP26  -  Air Quality
DP29  -  Settlement Character and Gaps
DP36  -  Heritage Assets
DP38  - Listed Buildings
DP39  - Archaeology and schedule Monuments

Page 50



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

7.3 NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Grove does not currently have a Neighbourhood plan.

7.4 VALE OF WHITE HORSE DESIGN GUIDE 2015

7.5 DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS SPD 2017

7.6 NATIONAL PLANINING POLICY FRAMEWORK 2019

7.7 PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE

7.8 EQUALITIES ACT 2010

7.9 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998

 Author: Penny Silverwood
Email: susannah.mangion@southandvale.gov.uk
 Tel: 01235 422600 

Page 51

mailto:susannah.mangion@southandvale.gov.uk


Farm
 

Mast (telecommunication)

W

O

L
A

G

E

 
D

R

I
V

E

E

L

M

 

F

A

R

M

 

C

L

O

S

E

T

u
lw

ic
k
 
C

o
u
r
t

Stone Haven

1

5

8

A
 
3
3
8

1

8

1

3

5

1
 
t
o
 
9

3

1

1
1

1

1

Playground

El Sub Sta

G
R

O
V

E
 
R

O
A

D

4

1

9
 
t
o
 
2
0

24

8

L
a
i
n
s
 
C

o
u
r
t

4

Raines

Cottages

2
 t
o
 2

2

G

R

O

V

E

 
 
R

O

A

D

Farm
 

1

2

n

o

 
C

y
c
l
e

s

C

a
s
h

R

o
o
m

E

n
t
r
a
n
c
e

L
o
b
b
y

L
o
b
b
y

C

u
s
t
o
m

e
r
/
A

c
c
.

W

C

W

e
lf
a
r
e

C

lo
a
k
r
o
o
m

I
T

 
R

o
o
m

B

a
k
e
r
y

W

a
r
e
h
o
u
s
e

U

t
il
it
y

W

a
r
e
h
o
u
s
e

C

a
n
o
p
y

O

v
e
r

T

r
o
ll
e
y

B

a
y
s

M

a
n
a
g
e
r
s

O

f
f
ic

e

C

a
n
o
p
y

O

v
e
r

E

n
tr

a
n
c
e

F
r
e
e
z
e
r

C

o
o
le

r

1
3
2
5
 
m

²
S

a
le

s
 
A

r
e
a

L
I
D

L
 
F

O

O

D

S

T

O

R

E

G

I
A

 
2
,
1
2
5
m

²

G

E

A

 
2
,
2
0
6
m

²

W

a
r
e
h
o
u
s
e

E

x
t
e
r
n
a
l 
P

la
n
t

C

o
m

p
o
u
n
d

rev

CAD file

environmental assessment

arboriculture

ecology

masterplanning

landscape design

urban design
FPCR Environment and Design Ltd

Lockington Hall

Lockington

Derby   DE74 2RH

t: 01509 672772

f: 01509 674565

e: mail@fpcr.co.uk

w: www.fpcr.co.uk

fpcr
architecture

Lidl UK GmbH

Land off Grove Road

Grove

SITE PLAN
1:500 @ A2

01 February 2019 AMT / MGH

8531-L-10 -

\\FPCR-VM-04\EarlyWork\8500\8531\LANDS\Plans\8531-L- Site Plan.dwg

NOTES

This drawing is the property of FPCR Environment and Design Ltd and is issued on the

condition it is not reproduced, retained or disclosed to any unauthorised person, either

wholly or in part without written consent of FPCR Environment and Design Ltd.

Ordnance Survey base mapping - supplied by client.

N

0 50m10 20 30 40

Appendix 1

Page 52

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST3       

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
ST2       

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
ST1       

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
84.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
84.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
84.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
84.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
84.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
84.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
84.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
84.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
84.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
84.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
84.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
84.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
84.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
84.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
84.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
84.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
84.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
84.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
84.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
84.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
84.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
84.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
84.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
84.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
84.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
84.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
84.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
84.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
84.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
84.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
84.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
84.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
84.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
84.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
84.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
84.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
84.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
84.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
84.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
84.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
84.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
84.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
84.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
84.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
84.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
84.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
84.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
84.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
84.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
84.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
84.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
84.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
84.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
84.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
84.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
84.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
84.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
84.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
84.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
84.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
85.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
84.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
84.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
84.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
84.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
84.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
84.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
84.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
84.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
84.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
84.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
84.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
83.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
83.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
83.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
83.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
83.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
84.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
84.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
84.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
84.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
84.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
84.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
83.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
83.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
83.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
83.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
83.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
84.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
83.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
83.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
83.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
83.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
83.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
83.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
83.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
83.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
83.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
84.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
84.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
84.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
84.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
84.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
84.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
84.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
84.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
84.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
84.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
84.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
84.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
84.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
84.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
83.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
84.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
84.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
84.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
84.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
84.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
84.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
83.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
84.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
84.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
84.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
84.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
84.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
84.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
84.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
84.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
84.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
84.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
84.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
84.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
83.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
83.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
84.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
84.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
84.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
84.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
84.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
84.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
84.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
84.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
84.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
84.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
84.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
84.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
83.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
84.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
84.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
EL94.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
RL96.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
RL96.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
OHL92.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
84.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
85.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
86.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
87.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
88.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
88.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
89.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
89.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
85.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
85.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
85.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
84.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
84.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
85.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
85.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
86.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
87.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
87.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
88.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
89.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
88.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
87.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
87.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
86.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
85.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
85.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
84.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
84.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
84.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
84.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
85.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
86.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
86.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
87.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
88.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
89.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
89.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
88.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
87.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
86.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
86.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
85.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
84.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
84.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
84.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
83.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
83.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
84.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
84.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
84.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
90.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
90.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
88.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
88.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
89.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
89.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
89.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
90.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
90.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
90.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
90.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
90.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
90.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
90.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
90.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
91.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
91.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
91.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
91.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
91.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
91.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
91.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
91.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
91.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
92.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
92.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
92.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
92.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
92.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
92.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
92.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
92.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
92.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
93.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
94.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
93.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
94.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
94.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
94.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
94.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
93.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
93.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
94.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
95.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
95.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
95.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
95.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
95.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
95.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
95.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
95.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
94.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
95.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
96.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
96.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
96.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
96.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
96.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
96.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
96.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
95.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
95.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
95.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
95.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
95.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
95.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
95.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
96.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
96.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
96.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
97.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
97.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
97.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
97.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
97.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
97.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
97.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
89.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
89.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
89.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
89.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
89.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
89.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
89.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
88.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
88.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
88.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
88.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
88.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
87.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
87.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
86.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
86.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
86.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
86.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
87.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
87.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
87.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
87.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
88.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
88.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
88.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
88.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
88.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
86.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
87.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
87.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
86.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
86.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
86.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
86.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
86.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
86.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
86.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
85.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
85.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
85.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
85.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
84.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
84.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
85.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
85.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
85.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
85.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
85.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
85.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
85.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
85.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
85.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
85.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
85.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
85.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
84.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
84.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
85.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
85.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
85.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
85.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
85.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
85.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
85.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
84.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
84.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
84.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
84.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
84.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
84.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
89.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
90.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
90.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
EL94.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
$AUDIT_BAD_BLOCK

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
$AUDIT_BAD_BLOCK

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
Baby Change

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
Night Cage

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
Mezzanine above

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
Access to plant deck 

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
mezzanine 

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
114

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
13



Lidl UK GmbH
Land off Grove Road
Grove

K:\8500\8531\LANDS\Plans\8531-L-11 Elevations.pdf

1:100 @ A1

04 February 2019 TFG / GHELEVATIONS
8531-L-11 rev A

This drawing is the property of FPCR Environment and Design Ltd and 
is issued on the condition it is not reproduced, retained or disclosed to 
any unauthorised person, either wholly or in part without written consent 
of FPCR Environment and Design Ltd.

fpcr

masterplanning  
environmental assessment    

landscape design 
urban design

ecology 
architecture    

arboriculture    

FPCR Environment and Design Ltd
Lockington Hall
Lockington 
Derby   DE74 2RH

t:   01509 672772
f:   01509 674565
e:  mail@fpcr.co.uk
w: www.fpcr.co.uk

P
age 53



Cash

Room

Entrance

Lobby

Lobby

Customer/Acc.

WC

Welfare

Cloakroom
IT Room

Bakery

Warehouse

Utility

Warehouse

Canopy

Over

Trolley

Bays

Managers

Office

Canopy

Over

Entrance

FreezerCooler

1325 m²Sales Area

LIDL FOODSTORE

GIA 2,125m²

GEA 2,206m²

1
2
n
o
 
C

y
c
l
e
s

Lidl Store Areas

 G.I.A                         2125 m²

 G.E.A                             2206 m²

 Sales Area 1325 m²

 Warehouse

 (incl freezer comps.)   547 m²

 Ancillary Area                              253 m²

nicol thomas

architects     project managers     construction cost consultants     CDM co-ordinators

Registered in England and Wales. Reg No. 2140639

Quality Assured to BS EN ISO 9001:1994 Certificate Number GB 4723

Suite 108  1st Floor  Fort Dunlop  Fort Parkway  Birmingham  B24 9FD

(Registered Office) t:01902 398222 f:01902 394080 e:birmingham@nicolthomas.com

Also at Oldham

Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions must be checked and verified before

preparing production drawings or commencing works. This drawing and its design is the

copyright of Nicol Thomas Ltd and may not be reproduced in any form whatsoever

without their prior express written consent.

Revision Date Details

nicol thomas

Job:

Client:

Drawing title:

Drawing Number:

Scale:

Date:

Drawn by/ checked by:

Revision:

(Job number)

Lidl UK

Grove Road, Grove

Proposed Floor Plan

B6596 (PA) 03 B

1:100@A1

10.05.18

PW

A                    20.06.2018                Title amended                                        PW

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

10m8m6m4m2m1m0m

SCALE 1 : 100

SCALE 1 : 1

B                    21.08.2018                Scale amended                                       RM

P
age 54

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
Baby Change

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
Night Cage

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
Mezzanine above

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
Access to plant deck 

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
mezzanine 



NTS@A3

4 February 2019 OFD / MGH

Lidl UK GmbH
Grove Road
Grove

Section Elevation C-C’ 1:100 @ A3

N

fpcr

masterplanning  
environmental assessment    

landscape design 
urban design

ecology 
architecture    

arboriculture    

FPCR Environment and Design Ltd
Lockington Hall
Lockington 
Derby   DE74 2RH

t:   01509 672772
f:   01509 674565
e:  mail@fpcr.co.uk
w: www.fpcr.co.uk

K:\8500\8531\LANDS\Plans\8531-L-06-09C Landscape Retaining Wall Sections A - G.indd

Farm 

Mast (telecommunication)

WOLAGE DRIVE

ELM
 FAR

M
 C

LO
SE

Tulwick Court

Stone Haven

1

5

8
A

 338

1

8

13

5

1 to 9

3

1

11

11

Playground

El Sub Sta

G
R

O
VE R

O
AD

4

1

9 to 20

24

8

Lains C
ourt

4

Raines

Cottages

2 to 22

G
R

O
VE  R

O
AD

Farm 

12
no

 C
yc

le
s

Cash
Room

Entrance
Lobby

Lobby

Customer/Acc.

WC
Welfare

Cloakroom IT Room

Bakery

Warehouse

Utility

Warehouse

Canopy
Over

Trolley
Bays

Managers

Office

Canopy
Over

Entrance

Freezer

Cooler

1325 m² Sales Area

LIDL FOODSTORE
GIA 2,125m²GEA 2,206m²

Warehouse

External Plant

Compound

rev

CAD file

environmental assessment

arboriculture

ecology

masterplanning

landscape design
urban design FPCR Environment and Design Ltd

Lockington Hall
Lockington
Derby   DE74 2RH

t: 01509 672772
f: 01509 674565
e: mail@fpcr.co.uk
w: www.fpcr.co.uk

fpcr
architecture

Lidl UK GmbH
Land off Grove Road
Grove

SITE PLAN
1:500 @ A2

01 February 2019 AMT / MGH

8531-L-10 -

\\FPCR-VM-04\EarlyWork\8500\8531\LANDS\Plans\8531-L- Site Plan.dwg

NOTES
This drawing is the property of FPCR Environment and Design Ltd and is issued on the
condition it is not reproduced, retained or disclosed to any unauthorised person, either
wholly or in part without written consent of FPCR Environment and Design Ltd.

Ordnance Survey base mapping - supplied by client.

N

0 50m10 20 30 40

Section Location Plan (NTS) 

C
C’

This drawing is the property of FPCR Environment and Design Ltd and is issued 
on the condition it is not reproduced, retained or disclosed to any unauthorised 
person, either wholly or in part without written consent of FPCR Environment 
and Design Ltd.

Native shrub +
 tree planting

Native shrub planting

Tensar Greenslope (or 
similar) 

Native climbers on
greenslope

Service ramp

Store

LANDSCAPE RETAINING WALL SECTION C

Native shrubs + climbers 
on level strip

8531-L-07 C

Existing height at site 
boundary 96.3m

P
age 55



Page 56



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/V2651/FUL
PARISH NORTH HINKSEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Debby Hallett

Emily Smith
APPLICANT Mr Jordan
SITE 1 Maple Close Botley Oxford, OX2 9DZ
PROPOSAL Retrospective change of use to C3 

dwelling as 7 bed HMO.
OFFICER Susannah Mangion

RECOMMENDATION 
It is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the 
following conditions:

Standard:
1: Approved plans

Within 6 weeks of the grant of planning permission:
2: Car parking laid out and marked
3: Bicycle parking provided

Informative
4: Unique – boundary treatment

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 The application comes to committee at the request of the councillor Emily Smith.

1.2 The application site is located in a residential area, in the settlement of Botley, 
and is close to the 4a bus route into Oxford City Centre. The building on site is 
an extended semi-detached property. To the front the garden has been 
gravelled to provide off-road parking. To the rear of the dwelling is a triangular 
shaped garden.  

1.3 The application seeks change of to a 7-bedroom House in Multiple Occupation 
(HMO) which is a sui generis use and requires the specific grant of planning 
permission. The application for change of use to a 7-bedroom HMO is 
retrospective and the use commenced in July 2018. (The agent has advised 
there was an error on the application form which stated October 2019.) 

1.4 A planning application for change of use to a 7-bedroom HMO was refused 
earlier this year under decision reference P19/V0410/FUL on 20 June 2019.  
The reasons for refusal were that it did not provide adequate off-street parking 
and turning space and cycle storage; and the inadequate parking provision 
increased pressure on parking, harming the character of the area.

Page 57

Agenda Item 8

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/V2651/FUL


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

1.5 The current application differs to the earlier application in that the current 
submission is accompanied by a Parking Technical Note (PTN) document dated 
October 2019 was provided in support of the application. This document 
assesses the availability of sustainable modes of travel for occupants, assesses 
car ownership date from the 2011 census to understand parking demand likely 
to be generated by the development and also includes a parking survey of the 
locality conducted on three nights in October, which assessed spare capacity for 
on-street parking.

1.6 A site location plan is provided below:

1.7 The site layout plan is attached at Appendix 1.

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 North Hinksey Parish Council Objection –

Does not address the NHPC’s original 
objections to the scheme P19/V0410 
i.e. insufficient parking for residents 
and no provision of visitor parking 
provision and unsafe as encourages 
on-road parking due to congestion

Vale - Highways Liaison Officer 
(Oxfordshire County Council)

No objection subject to conditions: 
cycle parking and car parking as 
plans and informative to maintain 
unobstructed pedestrian vision splays 

Page 58



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

along highway boundary (i.e. no 
obstruction over height of existing low 
wall)

Neighbour Object (3) Objection
 Nothing has changed since the 

rejection of the previous 
application. 

 The provision of 4 parking 
spaces is not enough for the 
occupants so will impact on 
highway safety for local 
residents.  

 Consider the Parking 
Technical report makes 
incorrect assumptions since 
you cannot legally park on both 
sides of the road on the nearby 
roads as they are not wide 
enough.

 Site occupies corner plot on a 
roundabout and narrow road 
used by busses so access 
needs careful consideration.

 Very little amenity space at 
rear of property once cycle 
parking has been provided.

 General concern about the rise 
of HMOs in Botley in a 
residential area due to 
associated noise and 
disruption.

 The use is ongoing so there is 
already a breach of planning 
regulations.

 
Housing Development No observations

Waste Management Officer No observations

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 VE19/335 -  (current planning enforcement investigation)

The material change of use of the property from a C3 dwellinghouse to a C4 
HMO without planning permission.

P19/V0410/FUL - Refused (20/06/2019)
Change of use from residential property to 7 bedroom HMO property.
(Additional plan to show parking provided 21/03/2019)

Page 59

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=VE19/335
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/V0410/FUL


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

VE18/409 -  (14/11/2018)
Alleged breach of conditions 5 and 7 of P17/V0338/HH (1 Maple Close) and 
alleged change of use from C3 dwellinghouse to sui generis
(occupied by 7 unrelated persons)

VE17/637 -  (14/12/2017)
Extension not being built in accordance with the approved plans for 
P17/V0338/HH.

P17/V0338/HH - Approved (07/07/2017)
2 Storey side extension

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 The proposed development is neither of a sufficient scale, nor within a location 

of sufficient environmental sensitivity, to require an EIA.

5.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
5.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following:

 Fall-back position
 Principle of the development
 Highways and access considerations
 Appeal decision 1 Hillhead, Lime Road, Botley
 Design, appearance and impact on character
 Neighbour impact
 CIL
 Other

5.2 Fall-back position
Under the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, planning 
permission is not usually required for a change of use from a family dwelling 
(Use Class C3) to a HMO of up to 6 unrelated persons (Use Class C4). 
However, the current building is occupied by 7 unrelated occupants and so does 
require planning permission, being regarded as a sui generis use.  If planning 
permission was refused, it is likely the property would be occupied by 6 
unrelated persons. It is therefore reasonable to consider the difference in impact 
between the occupation of the premise by 7 persons as opposed to 6. 

5.3 Principle
The site, which is within in Botley, occupies a sustainable location close to a bus 
route into Oxford. Botley is defined at policy CP4 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 
as a ‘Local Service Centre’ with a level of facilities and services and local 
employment to provide the next best opportunities for sustainable development 
outside the Market Towns.

5.4 Subject to being acceptable in other respects, the provision of residential 
accommodation at this location is appropriate, having regard to transport links 
and the level of facilities and services in the locality.

Page 60

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=VE18/409
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=VE17/637
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/V0338/HH


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

5.5 Highways and access considerations
The proposal indicates a parking plan for 4 vehicle spaces within the front 
garden area and for 10 cycle parking spaces within the rear garden area. The 
cycle parking area would serve residents and visitors, encouraging sustainable 
forms of transport and lessen dependence on private vehicles. The County 
Council’s Highways Liaison Officer has reviewed the scheme in the light of the 
additional information provided within the PTN and is content that the parking is 
sufficient, having regard to the sustainable location of the site, including the 
pedestrian and cyclist infrastructure and the variety of public transport services 
available within the vicinity of the site, and to the availability of on-street parking 
assessed in the PTN. Accordingly, there are unlikely to be any highway or 
safety issues.

5.6 The Highways Liaison Officer objected to the previous application which was not 
accompanied by a Parking Technical Note. The Highways Officer’s objection 
provided grounds for the reasons for refusal on the previous application, 
P19/V0410/FUL.

5.7 Although local concerns have been raised in respect of the access and parking 
provision, since there is no longer an objection from the Highways Officer, it is 
not sustainable for officers to maintain the objection that the proposal does not 
provide adequate off-street parking and turning space and cycle storage.

5.8 Appeal Decision P19/V0357/FUL – 1 Hillhead, Lime Road, Botley
The Vale recently refused planning permission for an 8-bedroom HMO at 1 
Hillhead, Lime Road, Botley. The Council’s decision was appealed, and the 
appeal was allowed. A copy of the appeal decision is attached at Appendix 2. 

5.9 The Planning Inspector concluded that the property was in an accessible 
location and that there was no substantive evidence to suggest that the 
additional 2 bedrooms, the difference between a 6-bedroom HMO and an 8-
bedroom HMO, results in a significant increase in demand for parking, and that, 
even if it did, on-street parking is mainly unrestricted. Further, there is no 
substantive evidence to show highway safety would be compromised. 

5.10 The appeal case is similar to the current proposal in that it proposed a marginal 
increase to the number of HMO residents above the level than can be 
accommodated without the need for planning permission. Although no two sites 
are exactly alike, officers consider there are sufficient similarities between the 
current proposal and the appeal scheme to mean that refusing the current 
proposal is unlikely to lead to success in defending such a decision at appeal.

5.11 Design, appearance and impact on character 
No operational development is associated with the proposal except for the 
provision of bicycle parking within the rear garden. Whilst the increase in the 
number of bedrooms may give rise to a slight intensification of the use of the 
site, there is no substantive evidence on how this may impact on the character 
of the area. Although concerns have been raised that there is for on-street 
parking in the area, the PTN accompanying the application identified spare on-

Page 61



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

road capacity for parking. There is no evidence that the proposal will have a 
detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the area. 

5.12 Neighbour impact
A concern has been expressed that the character of the area will change from a 
quiet area to a noisy area due to the presence of HMOs.  However, there are 
not understood to have been any specific complaints to the council’s 
environmental health team in respect of noise at this HMO. Should there be 
issues in future, the environmental health team would be in a position to 
respond to noise or other nuisances. At this time, officers are unable to 
conclude there would be any adverse impact on neighbour amenity.

5.13 Community Infrastructure Levy
The council’s CIL charging schedule was adopted on 1 November 2017. CIL is 
a planning charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver 
infrastructure and to support the development of their area and is primarily 
calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the development. 
The proposed change of use does not give rise to any increase in residential 
floorspace and is therefore not CIL liable.

6.0 CONCLUSION AND PLANNING BALANCE
6.1 The property can be used as a 6-bedroom HMO without the specific grant of 

planning permission. Officers attach significant weight to this fall-back scenario, 
and to the overall sustainability of the proposal, given the existence of a range 
of non-car options for transport. There is no substantive evidence to 
demonstrate that the use of the premise as a 7-bedroom dwelling would give 
rise to inadequate parking and turning provision or have a detrimental impact on 
the character and appearance of the area or on neighbour amenity. 

6.2 Having regard to recent appeal decision, P19/V0357/FUL, overall, the weighing 
of material considerations is in favour of approval, and the proposal is 
considered to accord with relevant policies of the development plan and with the 
NPPF.

The following planning policies have been taken into account:

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 policies

CP01  -  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CP03  -  Settlement Hierarchy
CP04  -  Meeting Our Housing Needs
CP08  -  Spatial Strategy for Abingdon-on-Thames and Oxford Fringe Sub-Area
CP33  -  Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility
CP35  -  Promoting Public Transport, Cycling and Walking
CP37  -  Design and Local Distinctiveness
CP42  -  Flood Risk

Page 62



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 08 January 2020

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2 policies

DP16  -  Access
DP23  -  Impact of Development on Amenity

Neighbourhood Plan:
The independent examination of the North Hinksey Neighbourhood Plan has 
now concluded. The district council now has to consider each of the examiner's 
recommendations, before making the final decision on whether the plan should 
proceed to a referendum. Whilst some weight can be given to the Plan, it is 
considered to be limited at this time as the plan may change or not pass the 
referendum stage. Notwithstanding this, regard has been paid to the following 
relevant NDP policies:

HS1 – Characteristics of New Housing
HS5 – Balance of Housing Types
TR1 – Cyclists, Pedestrians and Public Transport
TR2 – Parking, Access and Electric Vehicle Charging

Vale of White Horse Design Guide (March 2015)

National Planning Policy Framework, 2019

Planning Practice Guidance

Equality Act 2010
The application has been assessed against section 149 of the Equality Act. It is 
considered that no recognised group will suffer discrimination as a result of the 
proposal.

Human Rights Act, 1998
The application has been assessed against Articles 1 and 8. The impact on 
individuals has been balanced against the public interest and the officer 
recommendation is considered to be proportionate.

Author: Susannah Mangion
Email: susannah.mangion@southandvale.gov.uk
Tel: 01235 422600 

Page 63

mailto:susannah.mangion@southandvale.gov.uk


MAPLE CLOSE

1

6

27

2

5

C

R

A

B

T

R

E

E

 
R

O

A

D

El

3

2

3

1

NORTH

Scale

Revision

(AT A3 SIZE)

Project Name
Title

Project Phase

Checked DateChecked By

Drawn By Drawn Date PBA Drawing No.Client Drawing No.

Client

1 MAPLE CLOSE,

BOTLEY

PRELIMINARY

INDICATIVE LAYOUT DESIGN

JR 16.08.19

MW 16.08.19

1:250

-
513.0008.001 A

Rev Description By ChkdDate

A CLIENT COMMENTS 31.10.19 HC JR

Paul Basham Associates Ltd

Suite 4, Hitching Court, Blacklands Way, Abingdon Business Park,

Abingdon, OX14 1RG

01235 425460

 info@paulbashamassociates.com   www.paulbashamassociates.com

Appendix 1

P
age 64

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
FOOD 

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
RECYCLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
RECYCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
REFUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
REFUSE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
GENERAL NOTES 1. THIS DRAWING IS INTENDED TO BE VIEWED IN COMBINATION THIS DRAWING IS INTENDED TO BE VIEWED IN COMBINATION WITH  ALL RELEVANT ARCHITECTS, ENGINEERS, SERVICES AND SPECIALIST DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATION. 2. ANY VARIATIONS OR DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN THESE DRAWINGS ANY VARIATIONS OR DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN THESE DRAWINGS IN TERMS OF DIMENSIONS OR DETAILS SHOULD BE DRAWN TO THE ATTENTION OF THE ARCHITECT AND/OR THE ENGINEER FOR CLARIFICATION. 3. PAUL BASHAM ASSOCIATES ACCEPTS NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR PAUL BASHAM ASSOCIATES ACCEPTS NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY OF BACKGROUND INFORMATION PRODUCED BY THIRD PARTIES - THIS MUST BE TREATED AS INDICATIVE ONLY. 4. ALL DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS ARE IN METRES. DO NOT SCALE ALL DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS ARE IN METRES. DO NOT SCALE THIS DRAWING, PRINT, PLOT OR DISK.  5. THIS DRAWING SHOULD ONLY BE USED FOR CONSTRUCTION IF THIS DRAWING SHOULD ONLY BE USED FOR CONSTRUCTION IF THE PROJECT PHASE IN THE TITLE FRAME BELOW IS SHOWN AS "CONSTRUCTION". PAUL BASHAM ASSOCIATES TAKE NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSTRUCTION WORKS UNDERTAKEN TO DRAWINGS WHICH ARE NOT MARKED UNDER THIS PHASE.



https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 15 October 2019 

by Bhupinder Thandi BA (Hons) MA MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 12 November 2019 

Appeal Ref: APP/V3120/W/19/3233062 

1 Hillhead, Lime Road, Oxford OX2 9EH 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

• The appeal is made by Mrs Maryanne Dyer against the decision of Vale of White Horse

District Council.
• The application Ref P19/V0357/FUL, dated 8 January 2019, was refused by notice dated

20 June 2019.
• The development is change of use from 6 bedroom House in Multiple Occupation to an 8

bedroom large House in Multiple Occupation (Sui Generis).

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for change of use

from 6 bedroom House in Multiple Occupation to an 8 bedroom large House in

Multiple Occupation (Sui Generis) at 1 Hillhead, Lime Road, Oxford OX2 9EH in

accordance with the application, Ref P19/V0357/FUL, dated 8 January 2019
subject to the following conditions:

1) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with

the following approved plans: Location Plan Drawing No MD.015037.PP07.

Procedural Matter 

2. The application form states the use applied has already commenced. I have

determined the appeal on that basis.

3. The appellant has submitted an unsigned Unilateral Undertaking stating that no

more than four car parking spaces will be available for occupiers of No 1

Hillhead. I have addressed this in my reasoning below.

Main Issues 

4. The main issues are the effect of the development on the safe and efficient

operation of the local highway network and on the character of the area.

Reasons 

5. The appeal site comprises one half of a pair of semi-detached properties

located within a residential area both in use as Houses in Multiple Occupation

(HMO). A shared car park is located to the rear accessed off Turner Drive but

spaces are not formally marked out. Properties in the area mainly benefit from
off street parking.

Appendix 2

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/V3120/W/19/ 3233062 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Safe and efficient operation of the highway network 

6. The appellant states the development provides for 4 off-street parking spaces, 

whereas the Council consider that 6 spaces should be provided based on their 

draft parking standards for HMOs.  

7. However, cycle storage is also available for occupiers at the front of the 

property. Furthermore, the property is in an accessible location located on a 

regular bus route and close to amenities and facilities providing viable 
alternatives to private vehicles.  

8. When taking the fallback position into account there is no substantive evidence 

to suggest that the additional 2 bedrooms results in a significant increase in 

demand for parking. Even if it did result in a demand which cannot be met off 

street, on street parking nearby is mainly unrestricted. There is no substantive 
evidence to suggest the level of parking demand generated by the increase in 

two bedrooms would compromise highway safety in the area. Overall, I find 

any effect in terms of highway safety as a result of parking demand arising 
from the development would be negligible.  

9. Consequently, the UU is not necessary to make the development acceptable, 

furthermore, for the same reasons, there is no need to impose any planning 

conditions which require further details of parking to be agreed.   

10. Therefore, taking all these matters into account the development does not 

harm the safe and efficient operation of the highway network. It therefore 

accords with Policies DC5 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan (2011), Policies 
CP33 and CP35 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan Part 1 (2016) and Policy 

DP16 of the Vale of White Horse District Local Plan Part 2 (2019) which seek to 

ensure adequate provision for vehicle and cycle parking, ensure developments 
do not cause safety issues or congestion, minimise impacts and promotes 

sustainable travel.   

Character of the area  

11. Whilst I witnessed parking taking place on grass verges on Lime Road and 

surrounding roads there is no substantive evidence before me to suggest that 

this parking is associated with the occupiers of the appeal property. There is 

also no evidence to suggest that an increase in bedrooms from 6 to 8 and the 
number of vehicles, frequency of deliveries and service providers associated 

with this increase materially harms the character of the area, especially when 

taking the fallback position into account.   

12. As such I find that the development accords with Policy DC9 of the Vale of 

White Horse Local Plan (2011), CP37 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan Part 
1 (2016) and paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework which 

seek to protect the living conditions of neighbouring properties and the wider 

environment, to ensure that new development responds positively to the site 
and adds to the quality of the area.  

Conditions 

13. I have considered the imposition of conditions in accordance with the National 

Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance. I have imposed a 
condition specifying the relevant drawings as this provides certainty. As the 

Page 66

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/V3120/W/19/ 3233062 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

application form indicates the use has commenced it is not necessary to impose 

a standard time limit condition.  

Conclusion 

14. For the reasons set out above the appeal is allowed.  

 

B Thandi 

INSPECTOR 

Page 67

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 P18/V2300/FUL - Land at Grove Road, Grove
	Appendices
	Site Plan drwgno 8531-L-10
	Sheets and Views
	8531-L-10 Site Plan-A2-P


	Elevations Proposed drwgno 8531-L-11
	Floor Plan Proposed drwgno B6596 (PA) 03B
	Sheets and Views
	a1L


	Landscape Retaining Wall Sections C-C drwgno 8531-L-07-C
	SCP 18114 SK12 Rev H Proposed Ghost Island Right Turn Arrangement


	8 P19/V2651/FUL - 1 Maple Close Botley Oxford, OX2 9DZ
	Appendices
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2





